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Chapter 0.1


Introduction


Palo Alto is nice. The weather is temperate; the people are educated, rich, healthy, innovative. Remnants of a hippie counterculture synthesized with high technology and big finance to produce the spiritually and materially ambitious heart of Silicon Valley. In some circles the small city—population near 70,000, as of this writing—has acquired the mythical reputation of a postmodern El Dorado, where money flows by the billions from the investors on Sand Hill Road to hundreds of garages where scrappy coders are changing the way we do everything, from driving around to eating food. On per-capita terms, the Valley ranks with the planet’s wealthiest spots: Qatar, Macao, Luxembourg. A few people seem convinced that Palo Alto is in fact the center of the world.


Leland and Jane Lathrop Stanford gave the town its reason to be and its name, but they weren’t the first to colonize the area and they didn’t invent the words palo alto, which mean “tall tree” in Spanish and refer to a particular specimen. El Palo Alto is a sequoia that got its name from a governor of California—or, rather, the Californias. The Spanish expedition of Gaspar de Portolá was the first European group to reach the San Francisco Bay area, and many of the names they assigned to the natural features remain. (A quarter-millennium or so later, nearby Portola Valley is the richest town per capita in the richest country in the world.) For five days in November of 1769, the expedition camped under a towering tree near what is now San Francisquito Creek. El Palo Alto, now over one thousand years old, still stands, a straight mile shot from Palo Alto High School, right down the train tracks.


Today’s settlers find the schools a bigger draw than the foliage. For parents hoping to give their children the best chance at a successful life, the Palo Alto Unified School District is choice. In a society where skills and education are supposed to make the difference, it’s hard to make a better tuition-free bet than PAUSD. Even more than the hot job market and the Silicon Valley stock options, the school system is what has driven the median home price up near $3 million at the time of this writing.


I was born in Santa Cruz, California, but my mother and father met in Palo Alto, as a research assistant and a temp typist respectively. They moved our family back to town in 1996, and I spent the second half of my childhood on quiet culs-de-sac in the very nice place. My life felt traditionally United States suburban, a lot like what I saw on TV. But every now and then something else shone through the figurative fence posts at the edge of town. There were signs that, if Palo Alto was normal, it was too normal, weirdly normal.


I attended Ohlone Elementary—named for what we were told was the tribe that used to live on the Peninsula—and one day in fourth grade we had a substitute teacher. Most of the adults in my life were pretty stable as far as I could tell; I wasn’t used to their behaving unpredictably. Maybe that’s why I was so spooked that day when, instead of following the regularly scheduled curriculum, the substitute sat us down on the carpet and tried to tell us something important. “You live in a bubble,” she said, her voice strained and urgent. “The rest of the world isn’t like this. Do you know that?” Two dozen wide-eyed children looked back at her. We did not know that.


I don’t recall a lot of specific days from that age, but this one stuck with me. Apparently some of my classmates told their parents about the unscheduled bubble lecture because when he returned, our regular teacher apologized to us for what happened and reassured us that the bad substitute wouldn’t be back, that the district had blacklisted her. If that was supposed to make us disregard what we heard, it had the opposite effect on me.


As I grew up, Palo Alto gradually offered its own explanation for why things were the way they were—why some people had big houses and others didn’t, why some people lived here and everyone else didn’t: They deserved it. Hard work and talent allowed some people to change the world single-handedly, and they earned whatever they got. Sometimes this message was literally written on the walls—like the stories about Hewlett and Packard in the Stanford engineering building, printed on a permanent informational display near a water fountain I frequented as a teenager—but it was also the town’s implicit underlying ideology from its founding. We all got the message.


The suicides started in 2002. That year, a Palo Alto High freshman stepped in front of the Caltrain, the same locomotive line on which Leland Stanford built the town. Thirteen months later, one of his classmates ended his life the same way. Both picked the Churchill Avenue crossing, right near the school. In 2009, four more students between the ages of thirteen and seventeen killed themselves at the Meadow Drive crossing near their school, Gunn High. Another string of Palo Alto teenagers died by train in 2014 and 2015. These deaths were well publicized, particularly as a social-scientific example of the rare “double cluster” of suicidality, as if it were an unusual astrological phenomenon. The Atlantic magazine ran a cover story on the “Silicon Valley Suicides,” and no investigation of self-destructive teens was complete without a reference to Palo Alto.1 One thing the coverage missed was that the official tally undercounts the victims by at least half because it excludes young people who killed themselves after graduation, even when they returned to the tracks to do it. The community experienced not two clusters but a constant flow of tragic deaths in the twenty-first century. It continues: a month before I finished this manuscript, a twenty-two-year-old Gunn High graduate ended his life on the tracks.


As kids, when we talked about the place where we lived, my brother, sister, and I used to make morbid jokes about Sunnydale, the fictional California setting for the TV show Buffy the Vampire Slayer, where perfect weather conceals the portal to hell under the high school. As I got older, I began to think of the idea earnestly. We have a word for idyllic towns where the youth suicide rate is three times as high as it’s supposed to be: haunted. Palo Alto is haunted.


When I say haunted, I don’t mean haunted in the ghost sense, not exactly, or at least not necessarily. We use the word all the time without referring to actual phantoms. We can be haunted by a loss or a traumatic event or even by that dumb thing we said that one time. Haunting happens when a past action won’t go away, won’t stay past. But the word usually refers to a relation between the living and the dead: There’s an imbalance between the realms, something stuck where it isn’t supposed to be. Haunting is homologous with theft, which also involves things being where they shouldn’t, but we’re not talking about a stolen wallet; it takes more than that to disturb hell. What haunts are the kinds of large historical crimes that, once committed, can never truly be set right.


The simplest imbalance between the living and the dead is just that: We’re still here and they’re not. When it comes to my classmates, the division feels arbitrary. Some of those who died were depressive, some weren’t—a description of the living as well. Anything you could say about them you could say about us, too, except the one. That has haunted me, and I have struggled to find a way to approach it as a writer. There is a whole pile of journalistic investigations of the Palo Alto suicides, as well as a long Centers for Disease Control report, and I’ve found them uniformly unsatisfying in a way that suggests a problem with the medium rather than the reporters. I have no interest in writing a suburban California survival memoir, either, and I write about myself like a bad bowler anyway, always headed straight for the gutters of historical context rather than for the pins of personal revelation.


One thing I learned about in Palo Alto was C. Wright Mills’s concept of the sociological imagination, which he describes as a tool people can use to “understand what is happening in themselves as minute points of the intersections of biography and history within society.”2 Much like the sociological imagination, a haunting pulls together biography and history on the social field. Haunting connects the haunted to unseen lineages of historical responsibility. The cursed painting looted in the Holocaust, the construction project that disturbs an Indian burial ground, the pollution that awakens a swamp monster: These are social crimes from which some suffer and others profit. Hauntings are a reversal: The profiteers are made to suffer. At its best, superstition reminds us not to take advantage of others, even if nobody will ever see us doing it. The violations are embedded, written in the world. Something knows. But the revenge targeting is rarely quick or exact, and in our haunting narratives, when a curse comes alive, it’s often those nearest to the loot who end up paying. It’s the inheritors, the unsuspecting couple who buys an old house, or the violator’s descendants, the children, those who were meant to cleanse the ill-gotten fortune with their innocence and carry it into the future, their naiveté an element of the crime.


“The children of California shall be our children,” Leland Stanford told his wife, Jane, when they decided to build Palo Alto. It’s a grandiose claim, but as applied to me it’s not as inaccurate as I’d prefer. History doesn’t stay put: It works itself under your skin in fragments like shrapnel; it steals into your bloodstream like an infection. I’m a product of my environment, and I’m shot through with its symptoms. If that experience is to be useful rather than obfuscating, then it’s as a place to start, a set of intersections between biography and history.


With some sociological imagination, in the following five sections I’m going to focus my attention back up the historical tracks, the line that happened into what Mills would call my biography and spun my particular life into being. I’m not a character worth naming in that history, and the reader will be spared my childhood recollections from here on. Rather, I understand myself as a result of something the town founders called the Palo Alto System. It’s that haunted system I pull apart in this book, a system that has become centrally important to the present era no matter where you look.


Palo Alto is a bubble. I do know that now, but it’s an important bubble for the twentieth century, and a thorough accounting of the town’s role explains a lot about California, the United States, and the capitalist world, where it has found itself elevated to the status of promised land. That story fills the following pages.









Section I


1850–1900
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Diagram of Palo Alto “kindergarten track,” in Charles Marvin, Training the Trotting Horse (1890)









Chapter 1.1


To Whom Time Is Money




The Uneventful Conquest of Alta California — Gold Rush — West Coast Genocide — The New Almaden Mine — Immigrant Agriculture — Bank of America





To speak of the Ohlone is to speak of the broken link between the Bay Area’s indigenous people and the Bay Area itself. Disease—rather than extermination campaigns, death by labor, or environmental destruction—killed half of the approximately 300,000 Alta California Indians during the Spanish and Mexican periods, beginning in 1769 and 1821 respectively. It’s worth noting that these populations were not uniquely vulnerable to the spread of intercontinental disease in the nineteenth century, which killed millions of people all around the world. I mention this not to soften the cruelty of Spanish colonization but rather to make clear that there was no natural tendency toward the elimination of the California Indians. But when the United States showed up, the rules changed.


Unlike the Armenian genocide or the Nazi Holocaust, the California genocide was a bottom-up, settler-led process. And yet unlike the eastern states, California was a project of a United States federal government. The resulting synthesis of grassroots action and national planning expanded the country at a speed the world had not seen before. California settlers didn’t negotiate. “Government officials apparently preferred to kill California Indians rather than make peace or honor treaties,” writes Benjamin Madley in An American Genocide: The United States and the California Indian Catastrophe, 1846–1873, his blow-by-blow reconstruction of the state’s eliminationist program.1 Historians like Madley are still trying to reconstruct the massacres: Militias guarded water sources and tried to force every Indian onto rancherias, where they were enslaved. Settlers slaughtered the members of indigenous communities by the hundreds, and the federal government as well as the new state of California paid them to do it. There was no single Ohlone tribe; anthropologists used the term to refer to the dozens of small, distinct regional groups that occupied the South Bay when white settlers broke the mutualistic relationship of belonging between humans and the rest of the ecology. As California became California, settlers forced the Ohlone to become the Ohlone.


The adventurer John C. Frémont was a perfect synthesis of U.S. federal authority and U.S. “just some guys.” On the one hand, he was a commissioned officer in the federal army and the son-in-law of Thomas Hart Benton, who had been a senator from the state of Missouri for as long as there had been a state of Missouri; on the other hand, he was a topographer by trade and an adventurer by vocation, accustomed to making decisions far away from and out of communication with his bosses. This was a useful combination for the federal authorities at the time, and in 1845 the expansionist president James K. Polk sent him on a military expedition to survey the Rockies and the Sierra Nevadas, conveniently located in poorly defended Mexican territory. Frémont got the message, from Polk and from the manifest-destiny-inspired Benton, and he took his handful of soldiers through the mountains to the Pacific. Along the way, Frémont stirred up nationalist sentiment among Anglo settlers in Alta California, implying (but not declaring) that he was there to help them break the territory away from Mexico and deliver it to the United States as their countrymen had recently done with the Lone Star Republic, which he was. Resentful of answering in any fashion to the absentee Mexican government and worried about the legitimacy of their land claims (which varied), the settlers were already primed to revolt.


Frémont’s entrepreneurial insurrectionism paid off, and in the summer of 1846, a few dozen Anglo dudes rode on the pueblo of Sonoma from Napa Valley, bloodlessly seized the ex-Spanish installations, and took Colonel Mariano Vallejo prisoner. Out of a Chilean flour sack and some scraps of flannel the men made a flag, adding a single star alluding to the breakaway republic’s statehood aspirations. Without much else to occupy them, they drew “something that they called a Bear” onto the flag with berry juice and hoisted the banner over the empty Sonoma Barracks.2 Then, with no one to fight, they waited, drank, and assigned themselves titles. Ten days later Frémont arrived, took command, and rode south with 120 or so men looking for Mexicans. The American military gang spent the spring practicing on California Indians, massacring unknown hundreds in repeated acts of wanton brutality. Mexico didn’t present the same opportunity, and Frémont’s troops (now informed that, in fact, Mexico and the United States had been at war since April) occupied the old coastal military infrastructure almost entirely without shooting, which was lucky because they didn’t have much gunpowder left. The number of Frémont’s combined volunteer and uniformed army forces never topped 500, and the U.S. Navy sailed into Los Angeles unopposed. The federal government was prepared to renounce Frémont if things went badly, as they had renounced William Walker when his tiny 1853 invasion of Baja California and Sonora failed. But in more sparsely colonized Alta California everything worked out, and even a court-martial resulting from Frémont’s semi-rogue campaign didn’t stop him from getting elected the state’s first U.S. senator.


The short-lived Bear Flag Republic was now a United States territory, but the title was no long-term guarantee. Greater Mexico proved far too unwieldy for Spanish colonial occupation, and independent Mexico suffered from the same problem. The country not only lost Alta California, New Mexico, and Texas to conquest in the north, it was also fighting a losing war with Maya insurgents in the Yucatán, to the south. California was isolated from the rest of the United States, much farther from the White House than it was from Mexico City. Frémont felt safe massacring unarmed indigenous groups in 1846, but the Anglo settlers were vastly outnumbered, and the tables could turn fast—never mind the European powers and wildcards like Russia and the Chinese. In the West, the United States was out on a limb.


What the United States needed was for a bunch of people to go to California and stay there, anchor the territory, and ready it for statehood. The problem was that there were not a whole lot of reasons for settlers to try it. The sea routes around the Cape of Good Hope or down to British Nicaragua and up the West Coast after an overland trek were long, dangerous, and expensive; the Oregon Trail across the continent was even worse. When they got to the California territory, settlers found unsurpassed natural beauty and unbelievable biodiversity, but the pecuniary prospects—the only thing that could lure them in large numbers—were not all that great at first. There was plenty of land but no one was especially enthusiastic about working it for profit. Indians comprised the vast majority of laborers (as they comprised the vast majority of the population), but their connection to the land always left them an exit if the contracted terms were insufficiently remunerative. Wages tended to be high, which allowed Indians to labor on their own seasonal terms, supplementing traditional subsistence practices with paid work and maintaining independence from white employers. And though some Anglos kept workers under conditions we can uncontroversially describe as involuntary servitude, and some southern Anglo immigrants held on to their black slaves regardless of if not in defiance of the law, Frémont was a Free Soiler and the slave trade was banned in the territory. The United States could not rely on slave dealers to profitably colonize the West Coast the way they had Texas. California had plenty of land, but there was a lot of space between the western states and the Pacific coast and ambitious settlers didn’t have to go all the way out there to get started. For Europeans and Anglo-Americans to want to go settle in California before 1848, they had to be a bit weird.


One of those weirdos was John Sutter. Born Johann, the Swiss merchant ditched his wife, children, and debts in Europe to seek his fortune in the West. His circuitous route indicates just how far Alta California was from Anglo territory: Sutter only arrived in the Bay after traveling through New Mexico, Vancouver, and Hawaii. Yerba Buena (now San Francisco) was the final stop, and he stuck around there, traveling up the river and establishing a fort and farm complex after talking the Mexican governor into a land grant of just under 50,000 acres. Sutter invited American settlers, establishing them as an overseer caste above the Indians who made up the majority of workers on the wheat ranch. He named the complex New Helvetia, and reports describe it as on par with southern plantations in its horrors. Sutter enslaved hundreds of Miwok, Nisenan Maidu, and “missionized” Ohlone Indians during harvest time.3 Although whites were racially outnumbered between 100 to one and 1,000 to one in the region, Sutter relied on brutality as well as racial division to secure his place, importing native workers from Hawaii and South Asia. Still, he suffered from the same problems as the Spanish settlers did: California Indians were on their own land, where they could provide for themselves just fine. For some Indians, white people who didn’t guard their horses well enough became another natural resource.


Anglo settlers denigrated Alta California Indians, and in particular Ohlone communities, as “diggers” who lacked accumulative agriculture practices. Although they did use digging sticks to pry up edible bulbs, Bay Area Indians enjoyed an outstandingly diverse diet based on seasonal community rotation. Nomadic in the sense of not having permanent constructed dwellings, the Ohlone moved in response to abundance rather than scarcity, and individual communities maintained small, consistent territories. Natural cycles of ripening and spawning dictated short periods of intense hunting and collecting labor, followed by longer periods of social luxury. To European settlers who had no idea what was going on, the natives seemed lazy. But California Indian life was exceedingly complicated, rooted in the qualities of many different plants and particular flocks and herds. That map of specificity included one of the densest concentrations of human linguistic and cultural diversity scholars have ever been able to reconstruct anywhere in world history. If California Indian life appeared too easy to Europeans it’s because the former could rely on thousands of years of enduring knowledge about their environment.


The settlers, by contrast—especially socially isolated settlers like Johann Sutter, who was half on the run from creditors—didn’t know anything about where they were. To combat Indian specificity, they wielded the scientific power of white genericity: one day like the next, one bushel of wheat like the next, one bowl of gruel like the next, one worker like the next, and (most important) one gold dollar like the next. Historian Albert L. Hurtado describes the impact of Sutter on the region, in particular the bell he used to summon Indians to work:




Sutter’s bell heralded the arrival of a modern sense of time in the Sacramento Valley . . . Now, for at least part of their lives, some Indians were wedded to a concept that proclaimed that time was limited and that it had economic value. The clang of Sutter’s bell announced that time was money, that it marched onward, and that it waited for no man, including Indians in the 1840s. Necessarily, the arrival of the modern sense of time coincided with the establishment of market agriculture, which in turn was linked with an international economic network.4





When Sutter couldn’t entice enough workers on the right terms with wages or credit he used force, but harvest was only one season, and it was more efficient to let the majority of workers feed themselves off the land most of the year. There weren’t nearly enough whites (or sufficient demand for year-round wage labor) to institute total rule by the bell. That all changed when Sutter built a sawmill on the American River, a precursor to the city he wanted to build on his land. In 1848, a carpenter he employed named James Marshall brought Sutter some rocks he’d found in a drainage ditch. Marshall was pretty sure it was gold, and try as they might, the two of them couldn’t disprove it. When word got around, Sutter’s workers quit to go looking for nuggets. And when word got to San Francisco, the river was soon awash in what came to be called forty-niners.


The gold strike on the American River wasn’t the first sign that there was precious ore in the region. For example, a Mexican soldier named Andres Castillero acquired a land grant to an ancient cinnabar (mercury ore) mine in the South Bay in 1846, though the grant became difficult to enforce soon after. But nuggets of gold that you could pluck off the ground was a whole different ball game. Gold was money, the universal equivalent, good for buying basically anything anywhere you could buy things, which at the time was more of the world every day. The allure to opportunistic settlers was unmatchable: There was money on the ground. Men (and the settler population was almost all men) dropped what they were doing and headed for the gold fields. Boats stacked up abandoned in the harbor as crews disappeared up the river. Settlers hiked down from the Oregon Territory up north. No boss made as good an offer as California’s waterways did in the early days of the gold rush. Using pans with ridges patterned on Indian baskets, the miners filtered rivers and streams, dragging gold-flecked sediment through their hands. As it turned out, the world center of cultural and biological diversity was also full of generic gold, and whites couldn’t get enough.


The forty-niners destroyed the Alta California Indian lifeworld in a different and much more comprehensive manner than the Spanish and Mexican settlers did. Unlike the ranchers, the surface miners needed little capital for overhead, and they had incentive to spread quickly. With their complex societies Indians lived off the land efficiently, communing abundantly in small territories for countless generations. Gold mining is much the opposite, single-mindedly exhausting territory and moving on to the next as fast as possible, extracting and piling inorganic nonreplenishing nuggets and dust until it seems like it might be easier to get it somewhere else. Instead of cycling with the seasons, mining moved linearly, exponentially, cumulatively. There is no such thing as enough gold. The forty-niners disregarded the Mexican land grants, which the United States promised to respect according to the treaty between the two countries, pushing the descendants of Spanish colonists off the good spots. Claim jumping was par for the course for streambed “placer” miners, and the first jumped claims belonged to the Indians. As violent whites crowded them off their land, California’s indigenous peoples lost the basis for their shared existence; in their place, white men found a basis for their own.


Gold rushers were not really settlers—at least most of them didn’t think of themselves that way. They were there to stack up gold and go back or onward, rich. Even after the state’s inaugural constitution—itself a rogue affair—and California’s quick incorporation as a “free” state to balance Texas in the Compromise of 1850, the men weren’t coming to stay, and their behavior reflected that. Greed and opportunism were an unstable basis for a society, but a war of all against all wasn’t good for business, either. If you spent your time jumping claims, you never got any gold. In the frontier camps, miners formed crude protocols for collective governance. Immortalized in Charles Howard Shinn’s 1885 account, Mining Camps: A Study in American Frontier Government, these temporary associations of free men settled property disputes and kept retaliatory violence between the guys under control. But this was Anglo-Californian self-government, and that hardly described the mass of miners. Gold was nearly universal, and people came in large numbers from anywhere they could: French adventurers, Chinese fortune seekers, experienced miners up from Chile and the northern Mexican region of Sonora. “Difficulties with such foreigners were inevitable,” Shinn writes, “and they only served to weld the Americans into a closer union.”5 Excluding foreigners and Indians from gold claims became a raison d’être for the miner councils and then for the Golden State government itself.


From the beginning, the state of California was a whiteness cartel, defining national belonging in relation to territorial access. In 1850, the state passed the Foreign Miners’ Tax Act, assessing a monthly rent for access to the land, putting everyone else at a comparative disadvantage. It wasn’t a bad deal for, say, French miners, who could (for a fee) secure claims that in former days the Anglos might have simply bullied them off of, but the protections didn’t apply universally. The state’s civil and criminal procedural codes excluded testimony from Indians and black people in cases involving white people. The testimony ban ensured that nonwhites could not protect themselves from white predation—that they had no claim a white man was bound to respect. In 1853, George Hall appealed his conviction for the murder of miner Ling Sing to the California Supreme Court, and the judges ruled for Hall, concurring in a ruling full of bizarre race science that the Chinese were also ineligible to testify against whites because to allow them to do so opened the door to full civic equality.6 The result was that California’s whites were legally permitted to kill nonwhites as long as no other whites complained. Mining-camp governance and the state it birthed didn’t simply quell violence: It stoked it, focused it, and organized it along racial lines.


With the state endorsing white supremacy by statute, American miners turned their attacks on the Indians into a national mission. In the decades following the gold rush, these settlers murdered and plundered on their country’s behalf, organizing themselves into Indian-hunting militias that demanded payment from the state, which in turn demanded reimbursement from the feds. The synthesis between national power and grassroots initiative was similar to the one that drove the Bear Flag Revolt and Frémont’s campaign, now with the additional state layer. The first civilian governor of California, Peter Burnett, explained in his 1851 state of the state address that “the white man, to whom time is money, and who labors hard all day to create the comforts of life, cannot sit up all night to watch his property; and after being robbed a few times, he becomes desperate, and resolves upon a war of extermination.”7 He provided direct support for the genocidal project with an 1855 law that assessed an annual 25-cent tax on all fighting-age white men who didn’t join a militia, a tax the legislature doubled the next year. The big giveaway, however, was federal: The 1855 Bounty Land Act offered 160 acres to any soldier or militia member who fought for two weeks or more. Predictably, California militias embarked on rinky-dink expeditions against unarmed Indians, killing a few at a time and confiscating land. With these land grants, settlers saw a future in California, and they advanced inland and north, driving an increasing number of tribal communities from territory that the militiamen then received in payment. The Bounty Land Act was a prelude to the 1862 Homestead Act, which offered the same 160 acres to settlers who spent five years improving the land, drawing an equivalence with two weeks of Indian killing. And the federal government sent hundreds of thousands of dollars to the state to pay California’s “war debt,” thanks to the support of Louisiana senator (and future Confederate secretary of state) Judah P. Benjamin. It was a particularly American mode of legalized conquest, plot by plot.


On the stolen land, miners planted wheat, barley, and oats—not as valuable as gold, though similarly generic—but the population wasn’t set up for a plantation economy. To become gentlemen farmers the settlers needed laborers, and there weren’t many around. As a result, even displaced Indians (who comprised the majority of potential wage workers) commanded high pay. The Anglos came to the same conclusion as the Swiss psychopath Johann Sutter did: forced labor, enslavement. While free workers commanded at least a dollar a day, farmers could buy Indian captives from labor contractors for not much more than a month’s wages. While black slaves in the South sold for upwards of $1,000 each, planters could get kidnapped California Indians for under $100 per person. White women were nearly absent from the coast, and white men enslaved Indian women and children for domestic labor, including sex. Militia campaigns drove Indians off their land into Anglo homes and fields. Slavery was illegal, but so was Indian testimony, and in the early 1860s, California slave raiding peaked, which along with technological improvements in mining and wheat agriculture finally drove down the price of Indian wage labor. By 1870, scarcely twenty years since the initial rush, California’s settlers had destroyed 80 percent of the California Indians by one estimate, bringing the population from 150,000 down to 30,000—“quite possibly the most extreme demographic disaster of all time,” in the words of historian Roxanne Dunbar-Ortiz.8 Commenting on the public abuse of one young Indian farm laborer who was dragged behind a horse in Mendocino County in 1865, a Sacramento reporter scoffed about the supposed ban on forced labor: “So much for slavery in California.”9


Move Fast and Break Things


As Albert Hurtado notes, California Indians were not alone in being pushed off their land into a harsh new historical epoch in the second half of the nineteenth century. Settler colonialists seized and enclosed agricultural lands around the world, forcing peasant and indigenous communities into capitalist work, whether waged, enslaved, or (most prevalent) somewhere desperate in between. “The age of empire was dead; that of free traders, economists, and calculators had succeeded,” wrote economist Eric Williams of Atlantic plantation slavery’s collapse. Beginning in the 1840s, “the whole world . . . became a British colony.”10 The London-led imperial core optimized its overseas territories for genericity and export, undermining subsistence systems, and as a result millions of people died of starvation from Ireland to India. Starving the peasants into the factories is the classic narrative of proletarianization, the creation story of the industrial working class. California didn’t have the factories of a Manchester, UK; a Lyon, France; or a Lowell, Massachusetts, but the state took on a factory orientation toward what it did have, which was gold and land. Unlike so much of the world, California did not see capitalist economics evolve step-by-step out of feudal property relations. Capital hit California like a meteor, alien tendrils surging from the crash site.


It didn’t take long for the forty-niners to exhaust the placer mines. In the absence of accumulative economies, gold didn’t have much to offer California Indians—some communities ceremonially destroyed people’s possessions with them when they died because those items were thought to have died spiritually with their specific owners. Much of Ohlone material culture, like the reed huts and canoes they remade every year, was intentionally disposable. By contrast, the gold miners were linked to a burgeoning global financial system, and they fed a bottomless pit of demand as fast as they could. But soon the system of distributed independent miners, with their iron pans, small claims, and murder militias, could no longer pull out gold at the same awe-inspiring rate. It was time for the capitalists to take over. The initial model for California gold mining didn’t have much to do with blowing bedrock; instead, miners used water to wash sediment, letting the exceptionally heavy gold fall to the bottom of their collecting pans. The genius engineers of genericity figured out that, in order to get their yield up, there were two things they could do: more and faster.


First, miners upgraded from the pans to rockers, essentially big narrow pans made out of lumber with a filtered hopper on top to catch large stones. The men set the boxes up on an incline, piled sediment in the hopper, and washed it downhill through the trough with a bucket of water, rocking the hopper frame to get the water washing the rocks and dirt into the filter, then the wooden channel, then over a series of riffles that caught the dense gold. One miner could operate a rocker by himself, and without a constant flow of water. The Long Tom was a step up, a giant rocker 10 or 20 feet long whose operation required several men at a time as well as a constant natural flow of water. California Chinese miners could find secure employment in these jobs if they were willing to forgo the potential upsides of independence, and racist laws made them cheaper to hire than Anglos. From there, investors scaled the model, combining boxes into channels hundreds of feet long and diverting natural waterways into their sluice boxes. A little mercury at the bottom helped collect the tiny bit of gold “flour.” The more efficient the model, the more investment capital was required—for research into claims, for engineers and construction, for expensive field provisions, and for employees. (More capital also meant more mercury flushed into the regional water system.) The frontier community of free white gold miners with nothing but the clothes on their backs disintegrated as specialists such as engineers and managers took over operations on behalf of clean-handed investors.


The sluice box channels were water-powered, but hydraulic mining, or hydrolicking, used the fluid element in a different way: Instead of digging up sediment to wash, hydrolickers used pressurized water to do the digging for them, intensifying their work by orders of magnitude. Using metal pipes and then canvas hoses (followed by leather, rubber, and hybrid models), California mining engineers washed away whole hillsides looking for golden veins. It was brand new technology, relying on ironworks that could forge the necessary high-pressure nozzles and connectors, and it was incredibly destructive. That was the idea, to drag as much of the land as possible over some riffles as fast as possible, to unearth the earth. Hydrolickers carved away whole mining-camp villages, washing their own geological legs out from under them. No problem; they could move on. But they were a menace to anyone who wanted to settle in California for the long term, including farmers and other property owners who didn’t appreciate all the sediment washing into their land. The complaints reached a fever pitch and in 1884, California federal district court judge Lorenzo Sawyer—a friend of the railroad—banned hydrolicking as a public nuisance.11 There was still some gold to be had in California, particularly now in hard-rock mining, but the water-powered rush of ’49 was definitely over. At least in California.


The rush called into being a new creature: the California engineer, master of water, stone, and labor. These frontier scientists were a superior, more evolved form of the panner, still entrepreneurial (and often motivated by an equity share in the project rather than a wage) but also dependable and often college-educated. California exported these men to English-speaking colonies, from the Hawaiian Islands to British-occupied India and Palestine to South Africa and Australia to foreign-owned mines in South America and East Asia. There they replicated their Golden State experience, turning the water against the land and subordinating the nonwhite laboring populations. California’s cowboy scientists helped transform the colonies for commodity agriculture and the societies for white capitalist rule, increasing the profitability and therefore the plausibility of colonial projects. As Jessica Teisch observes in her book Engineering Nature: Water, Development, and the Global Spread of American Environmental Expertise, the “California model” was so adaptable because it reformatted the relationships between capital, labor, and the environment according to a generic formula: Anglos rule; all natives are Indians; all land and water is just gold waiting to happen. Geopolitics took on the character of the gold rush, as European colonial powers engaged in competitive scrambles for colonial territory in sub-Saharan Africa and China.


California engineers became the heralds of proletarianization around the world, the shock troops of global enclosure, drawing the lines that so many others were forced to follow. In their packs they carried very particular ideas gleaned from the Golden State about how society should be arranged. “Engineers played a central role in inventing and implementing racialized labor practices in the British colonies, similar to practices that had developed to ensure White supremacy in the multiethnic American West,” writes Jeffrey Michael Bartos in his study of transnational gold extraction around the turn of the twentieth century. These practices included “different pay scales and job assignments based on race, a callous disregard for the health [of] nonwhite miners, importing scab labor, and leveraging perceived racial differences to suppress the wages paid to all of the miners who worked the ore seams.”12 The Wild West was the model for a new world, an integrated sphere of value and labor flows arranged according to white power and generic accumulation. If European leaders came to see the rest of the earth as their private juice box, then California’s engineers were on the ground aiming the straw.


Though it was a planetary phenomenon, there is perhaps no better example of proletarianization than the burgeoning Santa Clara County, growing up around the old Santa Clara mission, in particular the pueblo of San Jose. In the middle of its South Bay territory, the Spanish mission disintegrated the traditional Ohlone “tribelets” and the general lifeworld. Yet there remained a significant minority population of Ohlone in Santa Clara County into the early 1850s, and with the Mexican majority they centered around the ancient San Jose mercury mine. The colonists named it for Spain’s richest mercury-ore mine, suggesting that they had a hint how profitable New Almaden would be. Unable to get to his claim during the war, the Mexican grantee leased it to the British import-export firm Barron, Forbes & Company, which successfully exploited the reserves. In the years following the war, “no other California locale of comparable importance to Mexican Americans experienced such an immediate change” as San Jose and the Santa Clara Valley, writes historian Stephen Pitti.13 The prewar immigrant population increased by nearly 25 times by 1860, from around 150 to over 3,500, contemporaneous with a breathtaking demographic collapse for Santa Clara County Indians, from 450 in 1852 to only 29. For almost all Mexicans, becoming Mexican-American meant losing your land, because U.S. authorities invalidated Mexican land claims in contravention of the Treaty of Guadalupe Hidalgo. Only 26 Mexican-Americans could still call themselves professionally landed in California at the end of the decade. This process of racial expropriation culminated in 1863, when the United States Supreme Court invalidated Andres Castillero’s claim to the New Almaden mine and turned it over to the Quicksilver Mining Company of New York.14


New Almaden collected proletarianized Mexicans like mercury at the bottom of a gold pan, concentrating California’s largest Spanish-speaking population in San Jose. The mine offered more industrial jobs than any other enterprise in the state, and hundreds of Chicanos found themselves employed underground, a new racialized low-wage workforce. By 1860, 55 percent of Mexican-American men in San Jose were laborers. “No Californio or Mexicano resident entered a professional position in the county [of Santa Clara] between 1860 and 1900,” writes Pitti in The Devil in Silicon Valley: Northern California, Race, and Mexican Americans.15 Between the Ohlone (who held a default claim predating enclosure) and Mexican landowners, at the end of the 1850s there were fewer than 60 people left in Santa Clara County with a pre-Anglo claim to land. The rest had to work.


When the Quicksilver Mining Company took over at New Almaden, workers quickly realized they faced a new, worse order. The American owners took a holistic orientation toward the workers, extending the mine’s control over their lives. Quicksilver instituted a company store, monopolizing commerce in “Spanishtown” and jacking up prices for new, inferior goods. The owners claimed title to everything on company land, including the homes workers built for themselves and even the firewood they were accustomed to harvesting for use and sale.* Quicksilver banned independent peddlers, merchants, and water carriers, as well as Mexican-run taverns and restaurants. In their place, a company saloon served expensive rotgut. The new mine owners changed the compensation metric to one they controlled and started paying monthly instead of biweekly like the Brits had. Real wages fell, and workers ended up in perpetual debt, borrowing to pay for essentials such as food and funerals. By 1865, New Almaden’s Mexican laborers had had enough of U.S. capitalism, and at least 600 of them (along with some white coworkers) halted production and issued a set of reform demands. The Quicksilver company petitioned the genocidal state militia, which in turn petitioned the Northern California regiment of the Union Army, which, having finished defeating slavery, came to San Jose to intimidate the state’s largest Mexican-American community back into the mine. What had been a relative haven for the state’s Spanish-speaking population during the war and gold rush years became a trap. As much as anywhere this was the birthplace of the Mexican proletariat, forged in contrast and service to the new white owners of California.


The San Jose mercury mine provided the setting for a century of stories about post-’49 California pioneer life.16 In the mid-1870s, the New Almaden superintendent, Arthur Foote, brought his talented and educated wife out from New York to join him in the Bay and then on a series of engineering assignments throughout the West. Mary Hallock Foote was an artist with a command of the written word, and without too much expected of her in a community devoid of married white women, she became a correspondent for publications back home, writing and illustrating stories from New Almaden for Scribner’s. Her first piece, “A California Mining Camp,” published in 1878, tells of an exotic land with a camp of energetic white workers living segregated from and geographically above a village of Mexicans with their “dark-eyed women” who look at you with a “grave stare like that of a child” and whiskey-drenched men who repeat to Foote their single phrase: “No possible, Señora!”17 As to why she doesn’t see any elderly Mexicans, Foote concludes that they must be a “feeble race,” which helps explain why they seem to exist to serve her. (There are no Indians in Foote’s account, only Mexican proletarians with brown skin and dark hair.) The Chinese, too, are servants by nature (“A Mexican brought our wood—of course a Chinaman chopped it”), and she records their “profane and hardened baby-talk.” She figured herself as a white lady castaway in a land populated by races of childlike servants, and the country’s magazine readers ate it up. The Footes also served as the models for the noble Susan and Oliver Ward in Wallace Stegner’s 1971 historical novel Angle of Repose, which turned the Mexican and Chinese workers at New Almaden into background scenery for a rugged settler romance based on Mary’s real-life letters, winning Stegner the Pulitzer Prize and delivering Foote’s settler colonialist perspective to new generations of readers.


At New Almaden we can see the steps in the proletarianization dance: the alienation of indigenous and peasant populations from the land, the formal establishment of white racial rule, scientific management continually optimizing for maximum profits, looming soldiers. It all adds up to a laboring class with no legal way to reproduce their lives except to sell themselves hour by hour to an employer, on the employer’s terms.* Anglo-American settlers found themselves correspondingly enfranchised, whether squatting on land until the government recognized their claims or getting grants legitimately by joining a militia gang and murdering Indians on the state’s behalf. California’s agriculture was ranch-based, with amber waves of grain and large herds of cattle, so there was no significant yeoman tradition. Instead, California smallholders saw their titles as speculative investments that they could sell or rent to planters and other capitalists, less territory than an increasingly valuable entry in the expanding U.S. property register. After the Homestead Act, for example, mill owners encouraged their employees to register timber claims and then lease them to the company. That didn’t always work out so great for the small speculators, as I’ll explain in the following chapter, but they weren’t wrong about the land’s potential value. It soon came to outshine even the gold.


All the Way to the Bank


After paying out to the easterners and Europeans who helped finance the rush of ’49, the relatively small California capitalists were looking for new opportunities. They found a big one in Nevada with the Comstock Lode’s first hit, in 1859, an exploding sequence of silver bonanzas to end all silver bonanzas that helped codify the membership of the West Coast aristocracy and its important institutions. What few cattle operations were left over from the Mexican period failed frequently in the 1860s in the face of natural disasters and falling prices, which aided the squatters and their U.S. government in efforts to transfer land claims to the Anglos. Wheat boomed, along with oats to power the horses and other draft animals who dragged the farm equipment. Santa Clara Valley farmers could rely on natural aquifers, which allowed them to skip the costly irrigation systems that much of the rest of the state required. Lucky for California’s remaining planters, there was still some money on the West Coast—after all, the state’s big industry was money mining. The Bank of California opened in 1864 as the nation’s first commercial bank, successfully investing deposits in Comstock silver claims and reinvesting in California agriculture. The state now had a new capitalist class to mirror its new working class, and they doubled down on commodity crops, plowing mining money into monoculture (mostly grains, but also wine grapes) and triggering boom-and-bust cycles. By the end of the 1860s, California agriculture topped gold in terms of both employment and output value. In only 20 years the gold rush had started, finished, and transitioned the state to a new economic foundation.


When it came to agriculture, California held a competitive advantage over the rest of the country—money, which financed scale and mechanization, pioneering factorylike efficiency in the fields. The state had twice as much machinery and equipment (by value) per farm as the national average and three times as many draft animals.18 As a result, individual holdings were more than three times as large. This was industrial agriculture, and it was new to the world, but it was also the only kind California’s Anglo capitalists knew. Having shaken off the Mexican feudal bonds—never all that tight in Alta California to begin with—the state’s planters and engineers trained a techno-scientific maximizing gaze on the land. It was the same look that had turned the manual gold panner into the mountain-crushing hydrolicker in a few short years, and it had a similar effect in the days of wheat, encouraging land speculation, claim jumping, and the redirection of water for short-term gain.


As they did during the gold rush, the state’s advanced engineers looked to invent and develop new technologies as part of their plan to increase efficiency. “Because it had an agrarian capitalist order from the outset, California farmers could be pulled along rapidly by the booming market demand of the state and exports to the rest of the country,” concludes Richard A. Walker in The Conquest of Bread: 150 Years of Agribusiness in California, “and it could be pushed along by remarkable innovations coming from irrigation engineers, machinists, and plant scientists.”19 Among those innovations Walker lists new and improved plant and animal breeds; locally produced farm machinery like new plows, harvesters, and later the caterpillar tractor tread; irrigation tools like concrete dams and water pumps; and the first enclosed chicken hutch and cattle feedlot. In-state manufacturers had an edge, at least until the transcontinental railroad was completed, in 1869, and California’s ironworks absorbed its share of agricultural capital.


Still, monoculture for the world market was a wobbly economic foundation, and financialization was a double-edged sword. A run on the Bank of California in 1875 wiped out its deposits, and the firm’s founder, William C. Ralston, one of San Francisco’s most distinguished businessmen, went for a one-way swim into the bay. The wheat boom inspired planters across the Midwest and Canada and as far away as India, Russia, and Australia, and following California’s mechanized path they flooded the planet, transforming humanity’s diet. Commodity wheat was such a successful model that it undermined itself as cash crops colonized agricultural land around the world. Trading land that provided subsistence food for land that grew gold was a no-brainer for capitalist landowners, but it was a brittle system for feeding people. Facing an alienation from their traditional lands similar to what California Indians encountered, indigenous peoples and peasants starved as foreign landowners shipped the wheat they grew to hungry Europe. In the closing decades of the century, “[t]he new, globally integrated grain trade . . . ensured that climate shocks and corresponding harvest shortfalls were translated into price shocks that crossed the continents with the speed of a telegraph,” writes historian Mike Davis. “A futures ‘corner’ in Chicago or a drought in the Punjab could now starve (or enrich) people thousands of miles away.”20 Wheat weakened the landscape, and California became both increasingly prone to floods and vulnerable to dry weather. Unpredictable returns pulled the rug out from under a whole cohort of small West Coast Anglo settlers. Luckily for the state, California wasn’t a monoculture; it was still one of the most diverse places in the world.


Other than grains and grain-fed animals, California’s biggest gold rush–era agricultural crops were grapes and apples, partly because the best way to get gold miners to eat fruit was to squeeze it into alcohol. The global demand in the 1860s for wine spiked following the Great French Wine Blight, caused by the inadvertent importation of the grape phylloxera aphid from North America to France after intercontinental commerce accelerated in the 1860s and mining capitalists reinvested capital in the cash crop of the moment. As a result, even after French scientists repaired the massive damage, mining colonies from the nineteenth century still provide the world with some of its best wine: South Africa, Australia, Chile, Argentina, and, of course, California. Locally, the demand for wine and cider was higher than the demand for fresh fruits and vegetables, especially among Anglo-Americans and Mexican-Americans, who were used to diets high in grains and meat. Anglo farmers grew subsistence plots with root vegetables and cabbage, but among the miners, only the Chinese were accustomed to a diet that featured fresh produce, and Chinese immigrant communities placed a premium on familiar dishes—a reasonable choice considering the nutritional deficiencies endemic to colonial foodways. Chinese shippers imported boatloads of preserved foodstuffs for the comparatively well-paid Gold Mountain expat community, and some left the mines to grow produce for local (and then regional) consumption. White miners didn’t fight their Chinese counterparts for agricultural space the way they booted them off gold claims. Left alone in the culinary labor-market niche, California Chinese found employment as cooks, both in the mining districts and in the fast-growing cities.


The railroad (as I’ll explain in the following chapter) absorbed more Chinese laborers in the 1860s than California had to offer and as a consequence supercharged the trans-Pacific labor contractors. Increasing the supply of Chinese workers increased the demand for Chinese food, and the new cohort of California Chinese gardener-peddlers found they could make a decent, reliable living on relatively small plots, and without the risk or trouble of the gold business. The gardening work was much more labor-intensive than industrial wheat farming, but the produce sold for a lot more, and the cultivators could vend their products themselves locally or in the surrounding region, vertically integrating their operations and cutting out the middlemen and the speculators. Until the introduction of refrigerated train cars at the end of the 1880s, these perishable goods mostly fed California, not Europe or other nodes on the global market. It’s also worth noting that small, internally diverse plots made for a much stronger food system and a more resilient income stream for the growers. They came to be called truck farms—show up early to a farmer’s market and you’ll know why—and scholars apply the term retrospectively to what were more accurately called cart farms and even bucket farms. Much to the consternation of some white customers, Anglo-Americans were not eager to compete with the Chinese, who were working with a deeper body of agricultural knowledge. As a result, the California Chinese grew crops for the vegetably distinct Anglo market as well.


In Santa Clara County, mercury capital of the West Coast and ground zero for the wheat boom, planter capitalists started to figure out that the most efficient way they could use their land was to lease it to Chinese agriculturalists, finance whatever equipment they needed, and get out of the way. In 1860, the county census counted 22 full-time residents of Chinese extraction; in 1870, Santa Clara had over 500 full-time Chinese farm workers and another 500 who helped with the harvest, half of them in strawberries.21 But whereas in other areas the California Chinese sought out land to rent on a fixed basis, in Santa Clara County the agricultural landowners “appear to have been instrumental in bringing Chinese into the area,” concludes Sucheng Chan in This Bittersweet Soil: The Chinese in California Agriculture, 1860–1910, her study of the Chinese role in California agriculture in the post-gold-rush era.22 These men leased land on a partnership or sharecropping basis, depending on how you looked at it. That is, the owners provided operational financing and split the proceeds with the farmers and, later, the Chinese labor contractors who provided a layer of distance between the two. Berries—strawberries predominantly, but also raspberries, blackberries, and gooseberries—became a Santa Clara County specialty, and literally 100 percent of the industry’s workers were Chinese, from the introduction of the crops, in the 1860s, through the 1880 census. As you’ll read in the following chapter, that was a temporary peak of the California Chinese population, after which white capital and labor came together to ban further competition.


The workers were all Chinese but the landowners were white, and the contracts between the two increased in complexity. Landowners dictated what grew where, if not how, as well as the type of person to be employed, if not who specifically (vetoing the “quarrelsome or lazy or incompetent”). It was a complicated dance between capital and labor that rarely took the straightforward form of wage work, at least at first. “Chinese agriculturalists in California followed a reverse sequence,” writes Chan. “Only some two decades after they began to grow crops as owner-operators and tenants did many of their members become agricultural laborers.”23 She describes this “reverse mobility path” as a kind of proletarianization, a proletarianization in which Anglos induced Chinese farmers in the 1860s to manage the land, rescuing the wheat-ravaged state, and then snatched control back, along with the increased rate of profit the Chinese delivered. Spurred by the Comstock Lode, interest rates fell, and more owners were prepared to behave like investors rather than mere landlords. And with the Central Pacific Railroad’s link to the Midwest completed in 1869, more whites were on their way, even if they weren’t quite white yet.


A link to the Midwest was a link to the East and, just as important, a link to Europe. Once the pipes were connected, European immigrants began to flow west fast—from the starved, colonized island of Ireland, from proletarianized France and the Swiss cantons, from the Portuguese Azores Islands, and from the newly formed nations of Germany and Italy. WASP Americans looked down on the newcomers, while the Mediterraneans in particular were not thrilled with the Atlantic end of the North American climate. Many set off for the West, where the old-stock Anglo-Americans were fewer and farther between and the weather was more like that of home. There they encountered a very different mobility path from the one imposed on Indians, Chicanos, and the California Chinese as well as on arriving Japanese, Filipinos, Punjabis, and some black migrants from the American South. This inequality—a product of discrimination at the individual, social, and legal levels—dried to whiteness in the California sun decades before the U.S. federal government codified it in immigration law.


When this wave of European immigrants arrived in the Golden State, most of the gold already belonged to someone else. Instead of slugging it out with the Anglo hydrolickers or the Chicano mercury miners, they took up the intensive agriculture model pioneered by the California Chinese. Like the Chinese and unlike the Anglo forty-niners, these Europeans were familiar with fruits, vegetables, and the cultivation thereof. The Portuguese Azoreans, for example, settled almost entirely in the Bay Area, where they took up truck farming for fruits and vegetables, as well as the operation of small chicken coops and dairies. “They would work for wages for a while, then rent land, and then finally buy land,” writes one historian, describing the familiar white-immigrant mobility narrative as the Bay Area Azoreans encountered it.24, 25 It was a workable plan, and thousands of Azoreans moved to the area in the 1860s and ’70s, edging Chinese truck farmers into seasonal wage labor.*


The most successful group of proto-white Catholic European immigrants in early U.S. Alta California were the Irish, whose infamous famine and one of their failed uprisings lined up perfectly with the gold strike. With the precise structure of the West Coast racial order still up in the air, the Hibernians found fewer barriers to social advancement there than they found in other American destinations. In San Francisco in particular, Irish immigrants assumed an important role in municipal organization from the beginning of Anglo rule. Quick on their heels were the Swiss-Italians, who took to the familiar climate and established the region as the capital of the nation’s wine industry before expanding into other roles in the intensive agriculture sector. One of those Swiss-Italians was Theo Medici, who put his name on two big signs on the 22-room Swiss Hotel he owned on Market Street in San Jose, next to a giant flag logo familiar from the army knives. In 1869, Medici rented the hotel to another Italian-speaking immigrant, the forty-niner Luigi Giannini, whose California adventure netted him enough gold to go back to Italy, find a wife, and persuade her to join him on this new move.26 The hotel did well enough to support three children, and Giannini followed the class mobility path to a deed on a 40-acre farm, where he took a big stumble. Accounts differ regarding who killed Luigi—whether it was an angry workman to whom he owed $1 or an eccentric neighbor who owed him the buck—but somebody stabbed him to death over a pittance. Yet even death couldn’t arrest the Giannini family’s progress. Watching his father bleed out was Luigi’s eldest son, Amadeo.


Virginia Giannini was now a twenty-two-year-old widow with three sons, which made her a catch on the Alta California Italian marriage market. She wed Lorenzo Scatena, who was significantly younger than her ex but climbing a similar path up the class ladder. He seems to have been a decent person, and he treated Virginia’s young sons well. Rather than a landowner like Luigi, Scatena became a produce middleman, filling his cart with fruits and veggies at the wharf in the morning and bringing the load downtown to distribute among small retailers in San Jose. His stepson Amadeo joined Lorenzo in the cart and displayed an aptitude for business. Amadeo studied the subject (in what passed for a semester of college in California) as a young teenager and then joined his stepfather’s growing distribution concern. Tall and big, first for his age and then simply in general, Amadeo established relationships with farmers up and down the state, mailing cold-call letters. He encouraged Lorenzo to make small loans to the farmers they worked with and to use the company’s knowledge of the urban market to nudge them toward profitable planting decisions. The more Scatena and company behaved like investors, the more they turned truck farmers into specialized suppliers, which allowed them to scale up their plots. By the age of nineteen, Amadeo was a partner in the business, and by the age of twenty-one he owned half of it in his own name. Strutting around San Francisco’s seaside Italian neighborhood of North Beach, the young, handsome, and increasingly prosperous businessman attracted the interest of Clorinda Cuneo, the heir to a bunch of North Beach real estate and a share of the neighborhood’s sole small bank. They married (both at the age of twenty-two), and in fewer than 10 years Amadeo built the Scatena business up to the point where he could sell his half to some employees for $100,000 (a few million dollars in 2022 money) and retire. When his father-in-law died the next year, Amadeo took his seat on the bank’s board of directors.


Amadeo Giannini was a capitalist organizer from his first days, always partnering with new associates and figuring out profitable ways to meet their needs. He helped centralize intensive produce production, and by putting himself and his family in the middle he learned how much money there was to be made from financing the suburban truck-farm archipelago. Now a dynamic young banker, he took his energy into his new field. Amadeo wanted to loan money to the North Beach Italians the way local Irish and German banks loaned money to their ethnic communities. He wanted to transform the bank into an urban institution that would finance the block-by-block growth of San Francisco and the rest of the Bay Area, not just speculate on big mine projects and distant wheat fields. Amadeo saw a whole city full of Amadeos ready to burst forth, and he knew they were a good investment. But most of the bank board didn’t agree, so he quit and called his friend James Fagan—the banker for Scatena and company, known as Giacomo to Amadeo—and asked him how to start a bank. With a group of ambitious Italians (plus the Irish consigliere Fagan), they formed the Bank of Italy. Giannini’s determination set their organization apart. When the 1906 earthquake and the subsequent fire burned down San Francisco’s financial center, Amadeo took a bag of gold and a plank of wood and set up a teller window on the docks. It didn’t matter that the displayed wharf reserves were only 10 percent of deposits on the book; like a jealous husband reassured by the mere presence of his wife’s car in the driveway, bank customers saw the sack of gold, and instead of pulling their money out, they put more in.27 Stacking gold in the teller window where customers can see it became the standard Giannini move for warding off doubt in the event of crisis.


Watching his dad get stabbed to death over a dollar—one detail where the accounts agree is that the boy saw it happen—couldn’t stop the young man from becoming a professional lender; there were much bigger forces at play. Banking was supposed to be a dull job, but Giannini wasn’t a dull guy, and neither were the young Italian hustlers he hired. While the existing players sat in their offices waiting for the money to walk in the door, the Bank of Italy pursued every Italian dollar in the state of California, and not only as deposits. They encouraged clients to buy into the bank, reserving shares to sell to working-class depositors. Giannini eliminated minimum deposit requirements, bought advertising wherever he could, and sponsored community events. He brought customer service to California banking, and in 1909, when the state officially legalized branch banking, with its satellite storefronts, the Bank of Italy turned Italian communities throughout the state into financial outposts. Soon they probably did have an actual majority of the California Italians’ deposits, and some branches (including the one in San Diego) claimed to hold 100 percent of the deposits in their localities. By getting regular people’s money in the bank and lending it out, Giannini made the savings of the Italian working class available to capitalists at his discretion, accelerating the state’s growth and tying its fortunes to the bank. He turned the Bank of Italy into the state’s largest farmer, accumulating mortgages on around 10 percent of California farms. Giannini then compelled farmers to behave like businessmen, requiring standardized record keeping from his borrowers. If you wanted the good interest rate, you had to modernize in ways that made the good interest rate possible. And since rationalized farming was more efficient, farms that didn’t borrow from Giannini still had to change in order to keep up with the ones that did.


Giannini was an uncommonly talented banker. He turned the maximizing gaze that Santa Clara County was so good at developing onto money itself. Part of what made him so successful was better information: A roving squad of bank detectives assembled a file of typed three-by-five cards at the San Francisco headquarters, one for each California Italian, listing basic information as well as subjective assessments related to creditworthiness. Making good loans meant the Bank of Italy could make more loans and on better terms than its competitors, and Giannini put nearly everything the bank had back to work. He invested in farms of course, but he also invested in housing developments and the extremely early motion picture industry, putting $500 into a San Francisco cornershop nickelodeon in 1909 and spotting $250,000 ten years later for Charlie Chaplin’s debut, The Kid.28 Crucially, Giannini also bought other banks, which had high rates of failure during the era, and converted them into branches. This was a way to circumvent the state supervisors who, concerned about what the chairman called Giannini’s “weird mosaic” of bank offices, stopped issuing him new charters.29


Amadeo single-handedly inspired the creation of the California League of Independent Bankers, who all vowed not to sell out to the finance prodigy. The group’s president told a congressional committee investigating branch banking that the Bank of Italy had tried to trigger a failure at a small California bank that refused to sell, buying up tens of thousands of dollars in deposits and then withdrawing them when they figured the institution’s reserves were at its lowest.30 But no one could argue with the numbers: The Bank of Italy loaned money more cheaply than the other banks did. Who would want to regulate that away? One retrospective study found that Giannini’s aggressive expansion strengthened California’s bank system because he forced not just his branches but also his competitors to be more efficient, just as he nudged the truck-farm industry into rationalizing first as a distributor with Lorenzo Scatena and then as a mortgage lender.31 The Bank of Italy was like a constant stress test on its competitors, and the state’s banks performed better than average during the Depression in part thanks to Giannini.


In the 1920s, the Bank of Italy pursued a conscious ethnic diversification strategy, hiring multilingual bankers to work with the region’s many other (non-Italian) immigrant communities and pursuing them with a similar zeal. At the end of the decade, they had the most California Chinese deposits of any bank in San Francisco. The banker, who was using the distinguished moniker A.P., for Amadeo Pietro, named his first son for his kind and generous stepfather Lorenzo, but in a nod to their new homeland he anglicized the name to Lawrence. A.P. picked a new name for his bank, too, one befitting his role in the changed society: Bank of America.


A.P. Giannini was an exemplar of the national melting pot. “Before Giannini I was a dago,” one North Beach customer told a reporter in an oft-cited quotation from 1928. “Now, I am an American.”32 Giannini’s role was much more than representational, and he worked with his friend and fellow successful assimilant Joseph Kennedy to finance the presidential election of assimilator in chief Franklin Delano Roosevelt. The change from the Bank of Italy to the Bank of America stands for a whole slew of national, racial, and financial transitions underway at the close of the nineteenth century. In one lifetime, in a single county, the Italians (and more) became white and the Chinese didn’t. Indians became Mexican workers, and California’s Indian land became not just the United States of America but the Bank of America. California’s white dictatorship literally prepared the ground for capitalism; settlers turned the ecological abundance that supported a dense collage of indigenous communities into the farms that capitalized Giannini’s “weird mosaic” of bank branches. Anglo-American West Coast history is so brief that there is no California fortune we can’t trace back through these original expropriations of land and labor. It takes work not to see it.


*


The point of this story isn’t that Amadeo Giannini was a bad man because he profited from stolen land. If we’re weighing hearts, his doesn’t seem to have been so bad unless you were a complacent banker, a forgivable antagonistic tendency if ever there was one. The point isn’t even that Johann Sutter and John Frémont were bad men because they stole and enslaved, though they were and it’s worth saying so. The point is that the series of plagues visited upon California in the second half of the nineteenth century took the form of men, and we can see the character of the tendencies that shaped the state (and in turn, the world) reflected in the men seized by them.


The gold rush turned Sutter’s bell with its generic, money days into a hegemonic order, but order needs actors and Anglo California needed these men, or men like them. Gold called out to the settlers from Sutter’s bell, begging them to find the shining flakes and kill anyone who got in the way, to do it more and faster and on a bigger scale until there was more gold to be made in some other way. The state’s farms and cities and banks called out for discipline, for an ambitious outsider unbeholden to the finance elite to whip everyone into rational shape. Amadeo Pietro Giannini filled the bill, but if after watching his father bleed out in front of him he had instead dedicated his life to stitching wounds, California would have found another such outsider.


The impersonal force that animates this chapter, this book, this state, this country, this period of world history isn’t fate or human nature; it’s capitalism. That’s the name we’ve given to the particular system of domination and production in which landowners, on their own behalf, proletarianize the working class into being. It’s a predictable system with consistent, lawlike tendencies. As Karl Marx suspected at the time, California has a privileged place in that story, which it seems to me is the only way to explain why what the Ohlone called “the brink of the world” became, within a few decades, ground zero for exciting new banking practices and white racial formation.


What interests me is not so much the personal qualities of the men and women in this history but how capitalism has made use of them. To think about life this way is not to surrender to predetermination; only by understanding how we’re made use of can we start to distinguish our selves from our situations. How can you know what you want or feel or think—who you are—if you don’t know which way history’s marionette strings are tugging? In the following pages you’ll meet characters who find ways to tug back, who pit themselves against the way things are and come to personify the system’s self-destructive countertendencies. People aren’t puppets, and to pull a person is to create the conditions for rebellion. Maybe we’re more like butterflies, pinned live and wriggling onto history’s collage.


If, as I have been convinced, the point of life and the meaning of freedom is to make something with what the world makes of you, then it’s necessary to locate those places where history reaches through your self and sticks you to the board. I began this project with the fact that the railroad that brought the mass of capitalist white settlers to California is the same railroad my classmates used to kill themselves. The man who built that railroad called himself Leland Stanford.









Chapter 1.2


The Combine




Leland Stanford and the Rise of the Shopkeepers — The Southern Pacific Railroad — Octopus — Rebirth of a Nation — The World Market





If there’s anything today’s historians agree about when it comes to Amasa Leland Stanford, it’s that he was a relatively unexceptional guy blessed with extraordinary timing. He was born in the spring of 1824 in Albany, New York, to parents who ran the Bull’s Head tavern, one of a number of such establishments near a toll road his grandfather helped build. When young Amasa Leland was one year old, he watched the completion of the Erie Canal right down the road. The canal connected New York State (and thereby New York City) to frontier settlements in the Midwest via a navigable waterway that ran through the western part of the state. It made New York City the premier commercial port of North America’s East Coast, surpassing Boston and Philadelphia. For the Stanford family, the canal was a godsend. With an international business artery passing through their backyard, the toll-road rest stop built by Lyman Stanford, Leland’s grandfather, grew more prosperous in his son Josiah’s hands. Amasa Leland was the fourth of seven sons, and his parents could afford to keep their daydreaming boy in full-time education much longer than was typical at the time, even though he failed to distinguish himself academically. (If there was one thing Leland, the large son of a second-generation barman, could do, it was drink.)


Born at the edge of a commercial frontier, Leland was a restless young man, moving from mediocre school to mediocre school, performing in accordance with his surroundings. Leland liked reading more than he liked working, and he didn’t like reading all that much. He decided on a career in law, perhaps with a quick transition to politics, a professional path forever beloved by ambitious slackers. A politician needs a good name, and so Leland dropped the biblical Hebrew Amasa, which, fittingly, means “burden.” The frontier had lower standards than New York did, so he took the law books his father bought him and in 1848 moved to Port Washington, Wisconsin. After an apprenticeship, he opened his own law office, which suffered from his total lack of German-language proficiency, given that German immigrants formed the bulk of the settler population. A run for district attorney on the progressive Whig line flopped. In 1850 he briefly returned to Albany to marry Jane Lathrop, a merchant’s daughter from his hometown milieu. Back in Port Washington, Leland’s office burned down, taking with it his law books and legal career, such as it was. Leland’s life to that point—he was in his mid-twenties—was a total loss. Despite the cosmic luck of being born alongside the Erie Canal, he’d squandered the little he put together. What he did have left was family, including four surviving brothers. He (scandalously) deposited his new wife back home, and set out to join the rest of the Stanford boys in California. With his family’s support, he took the ritziest of the three routes west: a ship down to British-occupied Nicaragua, an overland trek, and another boat up the continent’s flank.


Josiah Jr., Leland’s eldest brother, was a forty-niner, and he discovered faster than others that for most men like him there was more money to be made by selling shovels than by digging with them. By the time Leland made it out to California, his brothers had set up a modest but respectable commercial concern, centered on a shop in Sacramento. Last to arrive, Leland was sent to the barest frontier mining sites, where life was hard, margins were high, and men paid their tabs in gold (or credit backed by mining claims, which was also gold). As part of his brothers’ network, he bought goods on credit at wholesale prices, and he finally started to find the success into which he seemed determined to stumble. In Michigan City, a chaotic outpost of hydraulic mining full of hungry young men, the thirty-year-old lawyer-merchant could pass for a distinguished citizen. He rolled his trading gains into ownership of a tavern (the Empire Saloon) and got himself elected a frontier justice of the peace. He sold whiskey and ruled over the small town of miners, at least when it came to minor disputes. The medium-size fish found himself enlarged by the small pond, and in 1855 he went east to collect his wife. Promoted within the family, Leland took over the Sacramento store. That was good timing, too: Ownership of the land ringing Michigan City consolidated under the Big Gun Mine, and the proprietors dug so deep that in 1858 the whole town’s earthen foundation started slipping, cracking walls and rendering it totally unsafe for habitation the next year.1 Après moi le déluge.


Leland moved to a bigger pond with the Sacramento store, and there he swam with bigger fish. The brothers Stanford weren’t the only ones who saw the reliable profit opportunities in selling scarce dry goods and hardware to miners with more gold than sense. But the surface-mining claims were quickly tapped out, and so were the price-unconscious independent miners bidding nuggets for jeans and eggs. Leland moved the shop and switched to groceries. At the new location he found himself in the company of three other like-minded shopkeepers: Charles Crocker, Mark Hopkins, and Collis Huntington. The four, who soon began to refer to themselves by the ominous collective name the Associates, were ambitious, physically large, and politically “progressive.” The first two qualities were common among leading California settlers in the years preceding the Civil War, but the last was not. That made the start-up Republican Party another small pond for Leland Stanford, and he kept running for office, losing, and moving up the ladder. After winning the nomination in an ill-fated run for governor in 1859, he was the leading figure in the state Republican Party, and a solid choice to become the Associates’ front man. In addition, the Stanford store took over a failed gold mine from some debtors, only to see it turn around under a hired manager. Leland gave up drink, fitting in with the abstemious Associates, and people had no reason not to assume he was the original brains behind the Stanford Brothers store rather than the little brother who showed up late. By the end of the 1850s, he could look in the mirror and see something like the man he wanted to be. He passed for a person of substance in California, and as he reflected on his short life, he could see that the trajectory was going great; Leland had become a guy to bet on.


Events threatened to overtake the Associates. Capital-intensive mining and agriculture made employees out of the settlers on behalf of eastern and European capital, and you just couldn’t charge these workers the same prices. Wages declined, headed in the wrong direction as far as independent retailers were concerned. Men like the Associates had made good, but they were very petty businessmen on the economy’s national and increasingly international scale. They were like the luckiest of surface miners: financed to make a move in the burgeoning region but overmatched by agents who represented larger economic forces. A relatively common disaster like a fire or flood could wipe them out, as such things did other men in their position. The Associates had to find a niche from which they could grow. When the country elected Republican Abraham Lincoln to the presidency, Leland, as California’s reigning GOP gubernatorial nominee, found himself among the president’s senior West Coast advisers at a time of national crisis. And he had a business proposal for Honest Abe.


In 1859, New-York Tribune founding editor and leading Republican Horace Greeley made the tough overland trek through Yosemite to California. Published the following year, his account An Overland Journey from New York to San Francisco in the Summer of 1859 pitched the West to eager readers in the East. “If you come to California at all, come to stay,” he writes, “and nowhere else will you find a little money more desirable than here. Even one thousand dollars, well applied, may, with resolute industry and frugality, place you soon on the high road to independence.”2 Greeley especially hoped more women would make the trip, to even out the gender ratio and provide the domestic basis for permanent U.S. settlement. The book concludes with a full-throated call for a transcontinental railroad, financed via the inexhaustible promise of unsettled lands near the tracks. Lincoln’s Republican Party supported the idea, as did a group of southern Democrats led by Mississippi senator Jefferson Davis. The 1854 Gadsden Purchase of a small slice of territory in northern Mexico cleared the way for a transcontinental route south of the forbidding Sierra Nevada mountain range. But the railroad question was also a slavery question, and both the southern planter class and the northern industrial class knew that a southern route would extend the institution to the coast, turning California into another Texas slaver paradise and throwing off the country’s fragile political balance. The railroad languished in a Washington stalemate, a question for a united nation that did not exist in practice. When the South seceded, the balance question was suddenly moot and the northern route could proceed unopposed. There was just one problem: The mountains were still there.


The Sierra Nevadas were a thoroughly forbidding natural barrier, and with no clear way through, existing railroad capitalists wanted no part of a northern route, even though the speculative upside was obviously massive. That’s why, when a railroad engineer from Troy, New York, named Theodore Judah went around telling people that he found a way to get through the Sierras, no one took him very seriously. That is, until he met a handful of guys in Sacramento. The Associates invested just under $20,000 to form a company to execute Judah’s plan, “a considerable sum for storekeepers, but a pittance for a California railroad,” in the words of historian Richard White.3 They figured if the whole transcontinental thing didn’t work out they could pivot the project to a toll road, like the one Lyman Stanford built in Albany back in the day. But their real play was political. Infrastructure of this scale required Washington’s support—specifically its credit—and they were in an unusually good place to secure it. Leland sold the Stanford Brothers store to go East for a spell and advise the new president about whom to trust in California. When he returned to Sacramento, the Associates had two jobs waiting for him: that of 1861 gubernatorial nominee and that of president of the Central Pacific Railroad. This time, with a three-way race and the Democrats split nearly evenly between Unionist and pro-slavery Chivalry Democratic candidates, Leland won with a solid plurality. Not even a decade in the state, the slacker Stanford was now an important industrialist and governor to boot. For lucky men of the right type, that’s how things went in California.


Leland served only one term as governor, from 1861 to 1863, and without particular distinction—the rest of the region was busy, with civil wars in China, Mexico, the temporarily Disunited States, and incipiently in Japan. But Stanford never gave up the title and the prestige that came with it, going by “Governor” for the rest of his life. President of the railroad was in some ways the more important job, and it was the one he held longer, though the two gigs surely complemented each other. Who better for president than the Governor? The 1862 Pacific Railway Act chartered the Union Pacific to build west from the Missouri River (ultimately from Omaha, Nebraska) and authorized the Central Pacific to lay tracks east until the two met somewhere in the middle. The transcontinental line linked the West Coast to existing networks in the East rather than forming a whole new single rail across North America, as the name implies. Even with federal support, financiers kept their distance from the Central Pacific, and the effort stalled out after putting together only 11 miles of tracks. Collis P. Huntington—the uncontested shrewdest of the bunch—went to Washington and lobbied for an increase in government subsidies and incentives, winning the Pacific Railway Act of 1864. From there the road was easier, and by jumping ahead to flatter land in Nevada, the Central Pacific was able to secure the financing it needed to complete the (by then deceased) Theodore Judah’s plan and blow through the Sierras. The Associates connected their California and Nevada tracks, and by the end of the spring of 1869, they prepared to link with the Union Pacific in Ogden, Utah.


If there had been a contest among the four Associates regarding who contributed the least, Leland Stanford would have been the dominant competitor. But the Governor liked the limelight, and he made a good mascot. Given the amount of financial chicanery going on not so far behind the scenes, the others may have made a considered decision to let the big oaf stand in front for the proverbial cameras. On May 10, 1869, he used a hammer of silver to tap in the transcontinental’s symbolic final stake (made of gold, immediately replaced), and people poured into the streets to celebrate the new nation, which now rolled effortlessly from sea to shining sea. San Francisco, Chicago, St. Louis, New Orleans, New York, Boston, and Philadelphia all got the news at the same time because the transcontinental link was more than just a railway. The workers strung telegraph lines as they went, and May 10 also established the country as a single media environment. The circuit connected with a hammer blow and a single message lit up the nation: “Done!” Cities had fun triggering their own responses, such as a 100-gun salute in New York City, and a gong in Buffalo. Chicagoans paraded impromptu, while Philadelphians dutifully answered fire bells that they were relieved to discover were celebratory. The next morning the first passenger car passed from the Union Pacific to the Central Pacific tracks, and the inaugural batch of imported tea departed for the East, linking West Coast international trade to the nation’s financial centers via rail. This was more branding than anything else—goods from the East were just as easy to send to New York by boat, especially with the Suez Canal up and running—but the settler nation celebrated nonetheless.


The shopkeepers from Sacramento proved the railroad industry wrong, and they got rich doing it. Now everyone else wanted in on the game too, and money from around the world poured into speculative new lines. Sketchy stocks floated on international markets as newly global capital stretched its railroad limbs. The track was built, the subsidies harvested, and the Associates’ job was finished, but a new task rose in front of them. Failing to sell the Central Pacific off in its entirety (a move they attempted at various times throughout the building process), the men found themselves railroad operators. The transcontinental link reduced the cost of travel from the frontier to the coast dramatically, from an eventful $225–500 stagecoach ride to a sub-$50 “emigrant” bench seat or $112 for first class. Kids under three rode free.4 Between ferrying settlers inspired by Horace Greeley’s “Go West, young man!” and dragging the rocks out of new mines, the Associates filled their cars, and the world’s systems accelerated rapidly. Freight rates dropped, and information raced ahead thanks to speedier mail delivery and instant telegraph connections. A year after the golden spike, a passenger could telegraph his wife at home in Boston from the train and receive an answer before getting 50 miles farther down the line. The Associates were shopkeepers no more. They had become founding fathers of the West, and they had one more grand strike of luck to come.


In 1873, the global financial system that had emerged in the previous decade entered its first crisis. Newly united Germany moved to the gold standard, and the United States followed, pressing the price of silver down and triggering a gut check for the world’s financiers and promoters. It was a crisis of confidence: The ostensible basis for speculative investments in the railroad system and its weedlike expansion in the West was the revenue these systems planned to generate down the line, and because those equations were based on hype rather than solid math, a crisis of confidence cut right to the core of the business model. A drop in silver prices hurt the value of silver-mine claims, which in turn called the viability of railroads into question. Were they absolutely sure these lines were worth building after all? Eighty-nine railroads defaulted on payments as banks called in loans only to discover that there was no there there, leading to over 100 bank failures.5 Like Tinker Bell and Santa Claus, these speculative roads disappeared when the investors stopped believing, and their stock certificates turned back into plain paper. Investment capital, realizing it had wandered too far afield and into danger, retreated for safety, and the money that flowed to enterprises so freely in the transcontinental wake dried up. But every crisis is someone’s opportunity, and in this case that someone was the Associates.


The difference between the Central Pacific cabal and all the other fly-by-night railroad concerns that collapsed in the panic was not that the Sacramento shopkeepers were financially scrupulous. They were at least as overleveraged as their peers; their books were obvious bullshit; and they had taken advantage of the exact same scams that felled the Union Pacific’s directors the year before, in the Crédit Mobilier scandal. Rather, the difference was that they persuaded their bankers to persuade their bankers to play it cool. With the interested parties denying anything was amiss, the Associates were in place to snatch up failed lines at a discount. For capitalists at the end of the nineteenth century, it paid—as it has ever since—to have several corporate shells to switch between, just in case. They funneled money into the construction of their Southern Pacific line, another Associates-controlled railroad that subsumed the Central, earning the budding monopoly the nickname the Combine.


But corporate costume changes didn’t fool the public. Railroads by their nature depended on politicians, and the Associates became expert bribery artists, spending millions in cash and stock to make sure they got their way. The men stood for corruption itself. Their western transportation monopoly developed a stranglehold on economic and political life in California, and it came to represent the strange new species of corporation in the popular mind. An 1882 cartoon in the San Francisco Wasp by G. Frederick Keller titled “The Curse of California” depicted the Southern Pacific empire as a giant grinning octopus, and dangling in its tentacles were the state’s industries: timber, communications, wine, mining, large commodity farmers, fruit growers, stage coach lines, and wheat exporters. All depended on the railroad, and there was only the one option. Glaring out from the octopus’s right eye was the unmistakable face of Leland Stanford. The image of a network of choking tentacles resonated, and other cartoonists used the octopus to represent their own regional monopolists, but the writer Frank Norris forever connected the sea creature and the Associates with his 1901 novel, The Octopus.


Can I Stop It?


No novel from the period has captured the particular intrasettler conflict that structured California in more detail than Norris’s. The Octopus is a fictionalized version of the 1880 events at Mussel Slough, an irrigation ditch in California’s wheatful Central Valley that became a flash point in the fight between homesteaders and the railroad. Theoretically, the groups’ interests were aligned. The railroad made homesteading possible, both by reducing the costs of the trip out and by connecting the small farms to the global economy. Railroads depended on settlers to build the farms and towns that made railroads to the middle of nowhere worth owning. Based on these codependencies, the Combine made an offer to restless men in the East: Come homestead on railroad-owned land now, and later the railroad will sell it to you based on its surveyed unimproved value, around $2.50 an acre. The agreement allowed farmers who lacked the capital or credit to secure their own land to build equity as homesteaders by locking in the original price. That way they could develop the land into wheat fields without worrying about the railroad coming in and taking advantage of their hard work. When it was time to buy the land, the farmers who were so inclined could turn around and sell it for four or five times what they’d paid for it and make a quick profit, just like the capitalist speculators did. In effect, the Combine contracted land speculation to homesteaders, promising to cut them in on the huge rewards in exchange for an advance in sweat.


When it came time for the farmers to buy, however, the railroad forgot the deal. The land was clearly worth more than the $2.50 or so an acre the farmers wanted to pay: Look at the beautiful wheat farms! For the Combine, it was a convenient misunderstanding; the promise on a promotional pamphlet (if, that is, anyone could dig up an original one as evidence) wasn’t an enforceable contract, and they weren’t about to sell land at a fraction of its value. For the homesteaders it was a disaster, retroactively transforming them from yeomen to serfs. The settlers filed suit, but the judge was Lorenzo Sawyer, author of the hydrolicking ban, friend to big land speculators, bought and paid for by the Combine. Sawyer ruled that the homesteaders were squatters, and they were welcome to buy their own farms at market price or get out. The homesteaders of Mussel Slough picked option three. Led by Confederate veterans still smarting from their Civil War loss, the settlers dug in, and as agents tried to evict them, they started shooting. When the dust settled, seven men were dead. The public blamed the Combine and its front man, Leland Stanford, who led compromise negotiations before running off to Europe in advance of the bloodshed. It didn’t look good, but the Associates didn’t rely on looking good to make their money. They could depend on their strangleholds, and there were enough tentacles to go around.


Norris’s book endures as a touchstone, and his evocative description of the Southern Pacific—“the galloping terror of steam and steel, with its single eye, Cyclopean, red, shooting from horizon to horizon, symbol of a vast power, huge and terrible; the leviathan with tentacles of steel, to oppose which meant to be ground to instant destruction beneath the clashing wheels”—alone keeps The Octopus in rotation. But the most important insight in the novel comes toward the end, when the protagonist, a writer named Presley (Norris’s stand-in), ends up alone with Shelgrim—Norris’s amalgamation of the Associates into one railroad baron. The scene is almost surreal: On a whim, Presley goes to Shelgrim’s office, where he suddenly finds himself with an audience. Stunned to discover the oligarch familiar with his socialist poem “The Toilers,” Presley isn’t sure what to say now that he’s behind the curtain. Their dialogue is worth quoting at length:




“I suppose you believe I am a grand old rascal.”


“I believe,” answered Presley, “I am persuaded——” He hesitated, searching for his words.


“Believe this, young man,” exclaimed Shelgrim, laying a thick powerful forefinger on the table to emphasise his words, “try to believe this—to begin with—THAT RAILROADS BUILD THEMSELVES. Where there is a demand sooner or later there will be a supply. Mr. Derrick, does he grow his wheat? The Wheat grows itself. What does he count for? Does he supply the force? What do I count for? Do I build the Railroad? You are dealing with forces, young man, when you speak of Wheat and the Railroads, not with men. There is the Wheat, the supply. It must be carried to feed the People. There is the demand. The Wheat is one force, the Railroad, another, and there is the law that governs them—supply and demand. Men have only little to do in the whole business. Complications may arise, conditions that bear hard on the individual—crush him maybe—BUT THE WHEAT WILL BE CARRIED TO FEED THE PEOPLE as inevitably as it will grow. If you want to fasten the blame of the affair at Los Muertos on any one person, you will make a mistake. Blame conditions, not men.”


“But—but,” faltered Presley, “you are the head, you control the road.”


“You are a very young man. Control the Road! Can I stop it? I can go into bankruptcy if you like. But otherwise if I run my road, as a business proposition, I can do nothing. I can NOT control it. It is a force born out of certain conditions, and I—no man—can stop it or control it. Can your Mr. Derrick stop the Wheat growing? He can burn his crop, or he can give it away, or sell it for a cent a bushel—just as I could go into bankruptcy—but otherwise his Wheat must grow. Can any one stop the Wheat? Well, then no more can I stop the Road.”6





The scene recalls the finale of L. Frank Baum’s The Wonderful Wizard of Oz (released the year before The Octopus), in which Dorothy discovers that the sorcerer is no more than a man. Except here we have a man who’s discovered to be less and more than that at the same time. Shelgrim presents himself as a bundle of social forces, the embodiment of impersonal currents—and he is, but not of the currents he claims. Because it wasn’t demand for wheat that built the speculative railroad lines. Supply and demand determine commodity prices—though not nearly so directly as we’ve been led to believe—and if someone orders a loaf of bread, you can’t tell the hungry customer to hold on while you build a railroad, a farm, a mill, and a bakery. Capital and capitalists built the lines, under logic much closer to “If you build it they will come” (or even “There’s a sucker born every minute”) than to “Give the people what they want.” As Richard White explains in his book Railroaded: The Transcontinentals and the Making of America, many if not all of the railroads were nonsensical from a consumer supply-and-demand perspective. The impersonal drive animating those big men in suits wasn’t the people’s hunger for bread; it was capital’s hunger for profit.


Back in the 1860s, Lincoln’s tenuous national government needed a railroad that built itself the way Shelgrim talked about, but demand wouldn’t get it done. As Theodore Judah found out, the strong value of the transcontinental proposition wasn’t initially clear to investors. That’s what allowed the relatively modest Associates to step up. But how did they get the money? Recall that their combined investment was less than $20,000. The feds offered monetary awards per mile, but they needed a funding mechanism adequate to the project. The country needed a way to access some portion of the immense value stored in the West in advance in order to pay for the expansion in the first place. Speculation is a lever big enough to move mountains, and through financial alchemy as powerful as any magic the world had yet seen, the Associates and their friends in the government turned the vast landscape of the West into the ultimate speculative commodity: real estate. How they did it is magisterially simple: Since having a train line through it immediately multiplied the land’s value, the federal government could be conservative and still trade half of it for a railroad and come out on top financially. Land on either side of the proposed line was divided into a checkerboard, with alternating plots deeded to the Central Pacific. The Associates ended up with a territory larger than the state of Maryland. Now they weren’t just selling shares in the railroad; they were selling shares in the West itself. And there was nothing more valuable than that.


The scent of profit wafted from gold country all over the world, long after the easy gold itself was gone. Bankers from New York, Paris, Frankfurt, and especially London wanted the high, quick returns that California represented, but they weren’t about to move to the frontier.* They needed a way to set their money to work in the West without having to follow it themselves. The world’s capital was increasingly liquid, searching out opportunities far from home. New forms of financial engineering allowed the Associates to feather a nest for capitalists, providing a space for them to “work on the railroad” from the comfort of their studies. Bond financing was the simple way: The railroad issues promissory notes backed by the government land grants, then capitalists buy the bonds and enjoy a solid rate of return as the West is won. Or, as was becoming the style, financiers could buy up batches of railroad bonds and turn them around to retail investors for a quick profit. Once you start speculating, it’s easy to add new layers—you just need another buyer. European investors had spent an estimated $243 million on American railroad securities by 1870 (over half a trillion dollars in 2022 money).7 These pieces of paper had issued values, but they were also worth whatever someone was willing to pay; the spark across the gap between those two numbers ignited fuel in the belly of the Central Pacific.


Railroad bonds allowed capitalists around the world to wet their beaks on settlement in the West, and the railroads absorbed “close to half of all private investment during the last two decades of the nineteenth century and opened up outlets for a great deal more,” according to economist Pauls Baran and Sweezy, making the frontiers the roads opened “the greatest external stimulus in capitalist history.”8 But the bonds only offered fixed interest rates. Bond speculators could flip them to others (if they were lucky), but the nature of the instrument made for limited returns. Those promised returns were stronger than what capital could expect to find in savings accounts or government securities, but the point of investing in exotic railroads wasn’t to hit your head on limits; the point was to exceed them. Financiers wanted a way to access the potentially unlimited western gains they read about. Like the forty-niners who chased easy, transformative wealth, speculators were looking to get their hands on yields that weren’t yoked to the magnitude of the investment, all without having to do any actual work. Here again is the real impersonal demanding force that built the West—not hunger for bread but hunger for increased profits. Of course they could buy businesses, or invest in founding their own firms the way the Associates themselves had, but ownership was so restrictive. Converted to productive capital, money ceased to be liquid; it was tied up in machinery and other concrete assets. To make the best use of the opportunities to finance settlement in the fourth quarter of the nineteenth century—in California in particular, but also throughout the colonized world—capital needed a middle road between a bonded loan and a partnership, an instrument with the tradable liquidity of the former and the speculative upside of the latter. The answer was the joint-stock corporation.


In his 1910 book, Finance Capital: A Study of the Latest Phase of Capitalist Development, the economist Rudolf Hilferding gives an outstanding account of the market transformations that occurred during this period, and he singles out the financing of the American railway system as the “peak of perfection” when it came to the technique. For investors, buying stock in a company offered the Goldilocks solution to the bonds-versus-partnership problem. Investors in stock could get access to speculative increase via dividends (interest-type payments based on profits rather than invested capital) and by reselling their stock on the market when the price went up. For the railroad operators, it was a great deal. By selling up to half their stakes, the principals in a joint-stock corporation could double their effective capital without losing control. (If you have $1 million invested in your company, it’s worth $1 million. If you sell half of the company for $1 million, then your company has $2 million.) But it was even better than that, because a high level of firm capitalization could attract and serve as collateral for loans. (Now you have $4 million.) And if you create subsidiary companies, you can issue whole new blocks of stock for those, too. “The amount of capital necessary to ensure control of a corporation is usually less than half,” writes Hilferding, “amounting to a third or a quarter, or even less.”9 If Richard White’s account of the Associates is correct, it was much less than 25 percent: They came to control hundreds of millions of dollars in capital with an initial collective investment of less than $20,000. Through these stock instruments, shop owners used other people’s money to puff themselves up into monopoly men.


Theoretically, the joint-stock model works out for everyone. Investors are rewarded with a higher rate of return than they can get from mere interest. The founders are rewarded not only with an infusion of capital (which, unfortunately, dilutes their ownership stake) but also with what Hilferding calls promoter’s profit. Since the profits from a productive firm tend to be higher than interest rates—after all, people don’t invest in a business if they can expect a bigger return just by loaning their money to a bank or government—the promoter can split the difference into two parts, returning one to the stockholder as a dividend and keeping the other. Of course the promoter gets dividends too, as a stockholder. The model allowed owners to align the interests of some workers with their own via employee stock grants, which made managers and engineers as eager for speculative opportunities as capitalists and reduced labor costs until revenue showed up, if it ever did. If the whole project went bust then the workers were out of luck, losing their work and time the way investors lost money.


As long as you were willing to overlook the uncompensated expropriation of the land around the railroad tracks by the U.S. authorities—and everyone involved in the financing certainly was—a joint-stock transcontinental railroad sounds like a good deal all around. Global capital gets to be of productive use, profiting both professional financiers and the Atlantic’s lounging bourgeois investors. Enterprising small California capitalists elevated themselves, compensated appropriately for their assumed risk and filling the vacuum where, after the collapse of the cattle barons, a new Anglo West Coast aristocracy was required. Visionary workers such as Theodore Judah could make a class leap, too, if everything worked out, which made California a strong draw for the ambitious, clever young men whom the railroad required. Everyone wins but the Indians, a United States settlement motto.


But financial innovation offered many opportunities for actors up and down the model to cut corners and mark cards, none more than the Associates. The stock system meant that investors were induced to buy pieces of paper of no fixed worth, based only on their confidence; that was a recipe for fraud. Everyone wanted something for nothing, but only some of them could get it. The unlucky counterparties were stuck with the reverse: nothing for something.


Selling bogus stock to retail suckers was the lowest level of securities scamming, and there were plenty more opportunities as one scaled the corporate ladder. Accountants and managers skimmed funds directly, engineering the complicated financial statements in their own interests, reasonably sure no one else could tell what they were doing. And even if the higher-ups did find out, they wouldn’t want to shake the confidence of their stockholders by making a big deal out of it. Besides, it was the higher-ups who were engaged in the bigger frauds. They created their own supplier firms and gave themselves lucrative no-bid contracts. New investors allowed them to pay dividends to the old investors without producing real profits, pyramid-style. Owners moved value between subsidiary firms at will, generating gains and losses when and where they wanted them and nowhere else. The Associates mastered these techniques and more, making themselves outstandingly wealthy. And yet they were ready to turn out a silk pocket on command, pleading poverty with top hat in hand. They didn’t make money from the railroad; they made sure of that. Instead they made their fortunes on the sketchy subsidiaries: the Contract and Finance Company overcharging for supplies, the Western Development Company and Pacific Improvement Company using land grants to speculate on California’s new towns.


Perhaps the most egregious con the Associates played was a switcheroo with the Central and Southern Pacific. Since they directed both but owned much more of the Southern outright, they had the Central lend its line to the Southern, leaving no dividend payment worth mentioning for the Central shareholders, the bulk of whom were in London. Eventually the frustrated British shareholders deployed as their representative Sir Charles Rivers Wilson, the former government director of the Suez Canal Company and railroad finance expert. He negotiated a settlement with Huntington on behalf of the Central Pacific’s stockholders, proving that British bondholders could protect themselves in the American West.*


They were caught with their hands in the cookie jar, but the Associates did not drop the pretense of their good character. When the Economist described the scam and called the Southern Pacific “virtually Mr. Huntington in what may be termed a corporate form,” Huntington couldn’t let it stand. He wrote a letter to the editor, claiming that he “intended to deal fairly with all people having dealings with the company, and I believe I have done so.”10 This set off a firestorm in the financial press, including a point-by-point detailing of the Associates’ various scams over the previous two decades printed in the Investors’ Review: “It may almost be said that all known operations of the Pacific railroad management in this State are saturated with fraud and dishonesty which recur at every turn of their proceedings.”11 The editor of California Banker’s Magazine, in a bit of melodramatic excess, went even further, blaming the Economist for selling the stock to London’s investors in the first place.12 The besuited Associates were paragons of the new perfidy, and they were booed from across the ocean.


The Economist was wrong, however, to see the Southern Pacific as Huntington in “a corporate form.” It’s precisely the error the poet Presley makes in The Octopus, mistaking the railroad for a representation of the oligarch Shelgrim when the reverse was closer to the truth. You are dealing with forces, young man, when you speak of Wheat and the Railroads, not with men. The railroads came to stand for capitalism’s impersonal forces writ large: fast, loud, disruptive, dangerous, encased in metal. Legally, too, the Combine became its own person. When California rewrote the state constitution at the end of the 1870s, delegates included a provision that revoked the mortgage tax deduction for the railroad, since it was a corporation rather than a human being. The Combine refused to pay, and the state and two counties sued for their money. Aggregating the three cases, the justices of the Supreme Court agreed in 1886’s Santa Clara County v. Southern Pacific Railroad Company that corporations were entitled to avail themselves of the young Fourteenth Amendment and its equal protection clause.13 They ruled for the Combine and established the doctrine of corporate personhood. Long before Santa Clara County stood for Silicon Valley, Santa Clara County meant that companies are people, too, and the United States endowed its scams with civil rights. The case itself, of course, was part of the game. Representing California on the Supreme Court was Stephen J. Field, appointed by Lincoln on the recommendation of the state’s governor: Leland Stanford.


It’s no surprise, then, that the settlers of California took the rebel side when the shooting started. After the conflagration at Mussel Slough, locals celebrated the surviving “squatters,” and they served their short jail sentences in relative luxury. The only people who could be fooled by the Associates’ thin ruse of public interest were perhaps their own children. And yet these criminals dominated the state. In a time and place of street duels and hangman’s justice, why didn’t the scammed settlers of California march up to the Associates’ big famous mansions on San Francisco’s Nob (as in nabob) Hill and tear the octopus limb from human limb?


They almost did.


Nation Time


The problem with a railroad that built itself was that it didn’t. No matter how good the incentives, the Combine needed men to lay track, and those men needed to be paid. It wasn’t like the Associates’ previous shopkeeping business: Labor costs were a serious problem once they started building national infrastructure. They needed a reliable workforce that moved as fast as their ambitions. Speed was essential, since they were racing the Union Pacific to the flatlands, where the miles were easier and the government incentives hung lower. But the whole lure of California for the people who could become the workers the Central Pacific needed was the chance to overcome their station, to get lucky. There was only so lucky anyone could get doing dangerous backbreaking labor for $1 a day on the moving frontier; the forty-niner gold-mining wages that pulled them to the coast were ten times that.


The largest group of Alta California’s wage workers were indigenous, but it was that connection to the land that made them less than reliable from the capitalist’s point of view. Indian railroad work was seasonal; the men used limited wage labor to supplement traditional subsistence practices. Given the choice between sovereign community life and sex-segregated work 12 or more hours a day on the white settlers’ tracks, it’s not a particularly tough call. The chance for the former narrowed as settlers destroyed indigenous lifeworlds that had survived and adapted through Spanish-Mexican occupation, but California Indians were still far from dependent on the Central Pacific. Racing against Midwest capital, the Associates needed workers who were reliant on them, workers who ran on the company’s schedule rather than on a seasonal calendar. They needed men who were estranged from the land. Anyone else demanded an arm and a leg for the work the Associates were trying to get done.


The initial solution to the Central Pacific’s labor problem was the mass of Irish immigrants who came West for gold only to find the surface exhausted and the jobs controlled by well-capitalized bosses. Unlike Indian workers, the Irish didn’t have families to see or provide for, and they didn’t have homes to return to when conditions got too lousy. In theory, they were stuck. The reality was a little different. Central Pacific engineer L. M. Clement told the Pacific Railway Commission that these workers were “indifferent, independent, and their labor high-priced.”14 When the Comstock Lode hit in 1859, mining wages shot up again, to $4 and more per day according to Clement. Railroad workers walked off the job and into the mines.


The relationship between white immigrants and the land was closer than the Associates might have imagined: They were settlers, establishing a domain on behalf of the United States. Though they didn’t realize it, the railroad men already depended on these Irish settlers in another sense—as the front lines of white domination. In exchange for that work, the settler-colonial powers of Alta California already implicitly deeded the entire territory to them as white men. It was, in a meaningful sense, their land now, and for most of them the land had more to offer than the railroad. White settlers could be tricked into scams that promised speculative payouts in line with their skin privilege—as they were at Mussel Slough—but there was nothing very promising about working on the railroad all the livelong day.


Building the Central Pacific through the Sierras as quickly as possible required men who were vulnerable in a way that neither the indigenous peoples nor the conquering white Americans were. That’s where the Chinese came in. Substantial numbers of Chinese men came to California with the gold strike for the same reason most white men did: to get some, get rich, and leave.* Compared to the eastern settlers, who had to take two ships and travel across Central America, if they were lucky—or take the overland route through many different sovereign territories, if they weren’t—coastal Chinese workers had the more direct route there. But when Alta California became part of the United States, the region joined a white-supremacist slave power. The nation’s wealth was based on the expropriation of Indians, Africans, and now Mexicans, but the racists had plenty left in the tank. U.S. California’s white settlers used formal race laws and informal intimidation to kick Chinese miners off any valuable claims. They were stuck paying more for worse territory, only to lose it if a white man took notice. Since the courts refused to hear the testimony of “Celestials”—China was the “Heavenly Kingdom”—the Chinese could not rely on the protection of the law, which marked them as vulnerable to predation by everyone else, including Mexican bandits and especially the Chinese firms that shipped workers to California. And to the Central Pacific.


The prevailing story is that when Charles Crocker suggested contracting Chinese workers to build the railroad, his associates told him it couldn’t be done, that the Chinese weren’t biologically fit for such work, to which Crocker replied with some version of “Well, they built the Great Wall, didn’t they?” What’s more, they were organized by labor contractors who were ready and able to supply work like any other kind of commodity. The lead contractor for the Central Pacific was a man named Hung Wah, an enterprising guy who got his start supplying employees for low-wage hydrolicking mine work. At his peak he was responsible for a quarter of the railroad’s workers—over 900 men—and handled tens of thousands of dollars’ worth of wages a month.15 Instead of paying individual workers, the Associates could pay Hung Wah, and however he did it, he supplied them at an average cost to the railroad of $1 a day, one-third cheaper than what white men demanded for the same work. What’s more, the Chinese railroad workers did have plenty of germane experience, and their techniques, including the lowering of men in baskets down mountain faces, helped speed the Central Pacific’s construction. Chinese workers also handled explosives, including the new, highly unstable nitroglycerine, when whites wouldn’t, until Alfred Nobel’s licensing demands proved too costly.


The Associates lucked into some of the world’s most efficient construction crews; challenged by Europe’s celebrated miners to a public contest, the California Chinese cleaned their Cornish clocks.16 Over the course of construction wages increased—and the railroad paid better than work to be had in the politically and economically unstable Chinese coastal districts of Fujian and Guangdong, where they sailed from—but there were strong sticks to go with the carrot incentives. In San Francisco, informal and formal restrictions pushed the Chinese into low-wage domestic jobs such as cooking and laundering, replacing unpaid women, of whom there weren’t enough to go around on the frontier. And when the Central Pacific’s Chinese workers did strike in the summer of 1867 for a raise and an eight-hour day, it was the labor contractors who settled it, and without direct concessions from the Associates. The record implies that contractors withheld the men’s food and supplies. Still, we can imagine that compared to the chaotic violence of life in a frontier town without the law’s protection, the railroad’s scheduled exploitation could have been a sensible choice.


Many hundreds of Chinese workers died, occasionally gruesomely, building the Central Pacific, and it was their hard work more than any white engineer’s plan or shopkeeper’s capital that made the transcontinental path through the Sierra Nevadas possible. But by the time the tracks were ready to kiss in Utah, the Associates were shuffling Chinese workers to the back. Leland Stanford commissioned the painter Thomas Hill to memorialize the moment of the transcontinental accomplishment, and Hill’s oil painting The Driving of the Last Spike became the moment’s iconic representation. Front and center is Leland in his penguin suit, leaning on a hammer as workers ready the ceremonial spike. Hill included some of the people who weren’t there—such as Theodore Judah, deceased—and omitted others, most notably all the Chinese laborers. Not even Hung Wah, who could surely take as much credit as any white man for the road’s completion on such favorable terms to the Central Pacific, made the cut. (Hill did include a couple of visibly distressed Indians in the foreground, which is perhaps part of why Leland refused to purchase the painting as promised.) Chinese workers could build the railroad, but the country it linked didn’t belong to them. California’s settlers made that clear.


When the transcontinental line concluded, the Chinese railroad workers entered a depressed California economy, where wages declined as immigration increased. “That national connection brought many migrants from the east coast to San Francisco, and as well as manufactured goods from eastern factories to the west coast, creating pressure on the high prices and high wages that had previously flourished in a market of scarcity,” writes historian Mae Ngai. “Far from delivering untold wealth and development to the Pacific coast, the railroad brought joblessness and poverty—the long tail of the national depression of 1873–77.”17 Notable among those immigrants were defeated Confederate rebels, and the racist militants hadn’t undergone any postwar ideological reeducation. The boom era of settlement, when men who made it to the coast could count on low supply and high demand for whatever it was they wanted to do or sell, was over. Now the state’s economic life reorganized under capitalist auspices, and settlers became workers.


California’s manufacturers also suffered as a result of the state’s new umbilical cord to the national market: Stuck competing with more developed industry in the East, the young sector struggled to keep labor costs down. White trade unions succeeded in metal work, shipbuilding, and construction, which, as Alexander Saxton points out in The Indispensable Enemy: Labor and the Anti-Chinese Movement in California, are all industries that require large numbers of men working together in the open. That wasn’t the case with the new commodity manufacturers; an undergarment factory could fit in a Chinatown basement. All you had to do was teach one person the technique and contract him to round up the rest of the labor, providing capital as needed. Chinese contract workers were as appealing to these small-scale manufacturers as they were to the Central Pacific. The contractors transformed labor into just one more resource for capitalists, one they could turn on and off like a faucet.


In industries such as cigars and shoes, only producers so small that they couldn’t afford the outlays for Chinese contract labor still used white workers, who lacked the numbers to form an effective trade union. Instead, organized white workers in these sectors played on race hate to get customers to pay more for white-produced goods, which they tagged with (white) labels. This wasn’t so much trade union activity—which might have involved trying to increase Chinese wages—as cartel behavior. As the scholar Iyko Day writes, “In the rapidly industrializing context of nineteenth-century railroad building and mining, . . . the Chinese body stood for the devaluation of white labor”18 (emphasis Day’s). Chinese workers came to represent a whole set of social forces that portended badly for white settlers who expected less competition in the West, which spurred especially fierce racial conflict in those industries—such as clothing, shoes, and cigars—that were entering mass production and national distribution in a process that was displacing artisans. In the white-settler mind, the Chinese workers were another tool that capitalists were using to speed up work and lower wages. The capitalists thought much the same.


As the nineteenth century closed, California’s white labor movement increasingly shifted toward racial exclusion as its central operating principle. Instead of trade unions, the settlers had “anti-coolie clubs.” The Workingmen’s Party of California emerged from this milieu, cobbling together socialist rhetoric, trade union demands like an eight-hour day, and anti-Chinese racism. They were the ones who, in the midst of the 1877 unemployment crisis, marched up to Leland Stanford’s mansion and threatened him. But their front man, Denis Kearney, was better at being a racist than a labor leader. “I will give the Central Pacific just three months to discharge their Chinamen,” he railed, “and if that is not done, Stanford and his crowd will have to take the consequences.”19 However, it was easier for the Workingmen to impose consequences on Chinese workers than on white bosses: Stanford simply had Kearney arrested. Still, the Workingmen posed a threat to the Democrat-Republican duopoly, and with the railroad built, Chinese wages rising relative to white, and a surplus of “American” immigrants (who were more likely German or Irish), California’s capitalists no longer had the same need for Asian work. Besides, Chinese workers were starting to become Chinese businessmen and farm owners, competing with white capital in addition to white labor. The only things that separated labor contractors from the capitalists were money and race, and the contractors were making money. This was a dangerous place for the California Chinese to be, for it was the “vigilance committees” organized by Republican businessmen that helped keep white rioting in check. (These committees weren’t the only thing: Though settlers [and indeed, on occasion, indigenous residents] victimized individual Chinese, “the ghetto itself was armed,” Saxton writes of Chinatown.)20 As long as Republican officials extended the most basic protection of the law to their Chinese business partners, Chinatown could defend itself.* But the balance was tenuous, and white-settler plans for “abatement by force”—ethnic cleansing—were ghastly.


The “Chinese question” found its answer at the national level, in the debate over a California-led plan for Chinese exclusion. In reconstructing the United States, California was emerging as the regional swing vote, just as the state’s enfranchised settlers became single-issue voters. The transcontinental railroad solidified the state’s membership in the Union, which was far from a given considering how often the territory had changed hands in the previous few decades as well as its continual political instability and foreign interference in Mexico, not to mention the temporary sundering of the United States itself. California’s Unionist majority helped repair that split, cutting off the Confederacy’s western tendency. But Unionist didn’t necessarily mean faithfully devoted to principles of abolition democracy and the spirit of the slave revolution. The race-based exclusion of Chinese from the country flew in the face of Reconstruction and the black-led attempt to create a pluralist, racially equal nation. But that seeming contradiction was no contradiction at all for California’s white Jacksonians, because they maintained a consistent position in favor of free white labor and free white labor only. As for the regionally aligned party duopoly, California’s vote swung against the South during the war, but it could swing back. Federal civil rights legislation meant to force the ex-Confederate states to integrate also applied to settler California’s relations with the Chinese, which left the southern and western delegations looking for a solution to their linked nonwhite labor problems. If former slaves and their children were able to escape not just their commodity status but also their working role in the regional economy, southern planters threatened to bring in Chinese laborers to replace them, just as planters had in the West Indies. That would blow the exclusion plan out of the water, which gave California an incentive to compromise with the South. These two racist blocs came to an agreement that permanently set the direction of the modern American project: They agreed to cede the South to the Confederate redeemers and exclude the Chinese.


The Chinese Exclusion Act, which closed the door to immigration from the territory, passed in 1882, after a couple of years of ironing out the details conveniently gave employers some time to figure out their labor situations. The Burlingame Treaty with China prevented Congress from banning Chinese immigration, so the act set a ten-year clock (after which the restriction was renewed). Over the following decades, the California and federal governments tightened restrictions on Chinese people living in the United States, excluding them from naturalized citizenship and even barring them from land ownership. These legal restrictions made assimilation into an integrated society along the same path as white immigrants impossible. The 1882 legislation also served as a signal to racist vigilantes in the West, who were already organized to varying degrees. In September of 1885, a settler pogrom in Rock Springs, Wyoming, killed 28 Chinese Union Pacific Railroad workers and triggered anti-Asian riots across the region. Not content with halting the flow of immigrants and now implicitly blessed by Congress, these civic vigilantes put their abatement plans into action. To a point, it worked: By the end of the century, the U.S. Chinese population fell by nearly a third, from 133,000 before the Exclusion Act down to 90,000, a direct consequence of the ethnic-cleansing campaign.21


*


The transcontinental United States of America was a new nation. Where parochial standards endured—in timekeeping, for example, or in the gauge of the railroad track—the transcontinental line hammered them to uniformity. It secured the country’s continental borders, and they haven’t come up for much serious debate since. Chinese railroad workers made the country that in turn made the twentieth century, and that nation, never so friendly in the first place, turned on them hard. It’s no use speculating on the various moments that seem contingent in retrospect. This story is not a product of men’s choices, a series of psychic coin flips that results in the world as it is, one piece of fruit among many on a branching tree of equally probable outcomes. With the advent of the integrated world system, in which the transcontinental line was, along with the Suez Canal, a decisive link, investment flows determined the shape of what was to come. Capital’s ravenous hunger for higher returns carved a new physical and social geography out of the earth. It figuratively flattened space, blowing holes in some mountains as well. But contrary to some progressive expectations, it failed to dissolve barriers between peoples. Instead it formalized new ones. Capitalists used racial segregation to generate wage differentials, and legal, economic, social, and civic exclusion fell together in a dialectical tumble, each determining and determined by the others.


Around the world, the new model of railroad colonialism, as scholar Manu Karuka labels it, held to a common pattern: “territorial expansion through financial logics and corporate organization, using unfree imported laborers, blending the economic and military functions of the state, materializing in construction projects across the colonized world.”22 Once in play, these elements repeatedly yielded the same reaction. Capital flows obey systematic laws the way objects in motion obey theirs: predictably, inexorably. Confronted with a runaway train, men could get out of the way, get run over, or, if they were among the lucky few, get on board and find out where the tracks went.


What, then, of the shopkeepers? What of Leland Stanford? Norris’s railroad-baron composite, Shelgrim, urged readers (and writers) to think of the world’s transformation at the end of the nineteenth century in terms of forces rather than men, and indeed that explains how a man as insubstantial as Stanford could come to occupy such an important historical place. With the silver hammer handed him he blessed the accomplished fact of the transcontinental railroad and labored not much more. “He has never made any money but has had a good deal made for him and knows no more of its value when he gets it than he does of the way in which it was obtained,” Stanford’s associate Huntington wrote of the man.23 But in this way, the Governor is more representative of his milieu than the smarter, harder-working Huntington. Neither of them laid anything but a symbolic track between California and the East. They hardly even enriched their shareholders. Instead, they had a good deal of money made for them. Such was the role of the Great Man under global capitalism.


“That such and such a man and precisely that man arises at that particular time in that given country is of course pure accident. But cut him out and there will be a demand for a substitute, and this substitute will be found, good or bad,” Friedrich Engels wrote in an 1894 letter. “[That] if a Napoleon had been lacking, another would have filled the place, is proved by the fact that the man has always been found as soon as he became necessary: Caesar, Augustus, Cromwell, etc.”24 Necessity, he says, appears in the form of accidents, which appear in the form of men. Leo Tolstoy comes to similar conclusions inspired by the same Corsican in War and Peace (“History, that is, the unconscious, swarmlike life of mankind, uses every moment of a king’s life as an instrument for its purposes”), and Fyodor Dostoevsky dispatches him as a “pseudo great man” in The Brothers Karamazov. It’s entirely possible that after Napoleon has faded from the history books—as inevitable as it seems unimaginable at the moment of this writing—he will remain in literature, standing in these stories for all the world’s crowned accidents. Leland Stanford’s stature contrasted less with his accomplishments than the empereur’s did, but the Governor’s character seems to have been so unexceptional that his frame fooled few. No matter: The money was in his accounts, the land in his name.


In Stanford, the new system coughed up another man to stand for the larger forces pulling his strings. Though he was but a happy monkey dancing for history’s organ grinder, the West was so dear to the world market, the mass of value involved so gigantic, that the size of his small share surpassed even his fantastic appetite for luxuries. What’s a mortal man to do when he accumulates more than he can consume in a lifetime? The remainder is called a legacy, and Leland Stanford named his legacy Leland Stanford Jr. And he named it Palo Alto.









Chapter 1.3


Blood That Trots Young




Horse Power — The Palo Alto System — Edward Muybridge and the First Movie — Leland Stanford Jr. — Founding Stanford University





Toward the end of the 1870s, the Stanfords started decreasing the amount of time they spent in their luxurious Nob Hill mansion. Not even two decades into the rush San Francisco had become a rowdy metropolis, the biggest city on the West Coast and gaining on the East, in no small part thanks to Stanford and the railroad. The city’s growth came at the people’s expense, as industry corralled pioneers into jobs. Capital-intensive gold mining was consolidated, with nothing on the surface left to pan, and by 1870 there were more Californians working on farms than in mines.1 Completion of the railroad brought more competition, for laborers and for the smaller West Coast manufacturers and merchants that employed them. A transcontinental link undermined the advantages that motivated most forty-niners to set out on the perilous journey in the first place—and so soon, before they could enjoy their rewards too much or recoup the risk-cost of their adventure. Unemployment in San Francisco exceeded one in five, in a city where women’s unpaid labor (which insulates men from the pitiless market) was in short supply.2


The railroad stood for capital in California, the Combine stood for the railroad, and Leland Stanford stood for the Combine. It was an easy and incredibly well-remunerated gig—he didn’t have to do a whole lot more than the standing—but one consequence is that a lot of people hated him and his family. The white labor cartels held him personally responsible for the importation of Chinese workers and the resulting speed-up and attack on wages. If an individual could be responsible for all that, Stanford was as good a choice as any.


The top of the hill in one of the city’s biggest houses sounds like a nice place to live depending on your taste, but one potential drawback is that everyone knows where to find you. The location of the Stanford home was no mystery, and protesters made it a frequent target. Early that decade, the whole world saw what happened when an urban elite got too comfortable with the people’s complaints: The radical workers of Paris, France, took control of the city and declared the Commune. Journalist James Ayers recalled a different French insurrection when, during a visit to the Nob Hill estate, Stanford showed off a gadrooned Sèvres vase, once a present from Marie Antoinette to the Marquis de Villette. He told his guest to just ignore the interrupting cries from the workers outside the window. “Was there, I asked myself, a fatality attending the ownership of that vase?” Ayers wrote in his memoir. “I said to myself that were I Stanford, I would look upon that beautiful work of art as a ‘hoodoo’ and neutralize whatever evil spell it might possess by donating it to some institution where its power for good or evil would expend itself, not on an individual, but on the general Public.”3 The Stanfords’ ruling-class spiritualism didn’t help them see what was obvious to everyone else: Their ill-gotten wealth tempted fate.


The Central Pacific wasn’t about to capitulate to the sandlot crowd. Instead, Stanford gathered his family—which now included Leland Jr., born in 1868—and servants and got out of town. Like other prominent robber barons of the day, the Stanfords “sought security in a country estate,” as Kenneth T. Jackson put it in his classic study, Crabgrass Frontier: The Suburbanization of the United States, providing a model for elites looking to dodge racial strife a century later.4 In 1876, they bought a 650-acre farm, called Mayfield Grange, in Santa Clara County off the train tracks south of the city. No fan of the contemporary Grange Movement of organized farmers, Stanford renamed the area for a big tree next to the tracks: Palo Alto. In Palo Alto the Stanfords could keep any worker who didn’t work for them at a distance, something that wasn’t possible in San Francisco. Compared to the perch in Nob Hill, exposed to the howling winds of class conflict, the South Bay ranch was placid, a grassy pseudo-feudal expanse of lords and servants.


Concurrent with Thomas Hill’s aforementioned railroad commission, Stanford asked the painter to reflect on the estate’s majesty, which he did in Palo Alto Spring. The extended Stanford family reposes around a well-manicured lawn, children playing croquet beneath the trees’ shade, a bit of sky peeking out above a house of undefined large proportions. Leland Sr. sits, his left arm leaning on the back of his son’s chair. The family is bracketed by two black attendants in gray suits, bearing beverage trays and angled away from the viewer. As he did in his more famous painting of the railroad’s completion, Hill seems to have included a lonely Indian in Palo Alto Spring, standing in the background across a road, between the family and their house. In the foreground, at Jane Stanford’s feet, is a bearskin, its dead face the painting’s most alive. The rug’s yellow eye reproaches the viewer as two overdressed young girls sit on its splayed back. Leland escaped the Workingmen’s shouts, but the curse followed his family to Palo Alto. The Stanfords didn’t seem to notice the painting’s implications, and Hill’s work remains on view in the memorial collection.


Away from the Associates, Stanford came into his own in Palo Alto. Never all that interested in railroads (or really anything in particular), he finally found something worth his time: horses. The nouveau riche hobby of breeding racehorses captured his attention in a way that other business didn’t. What with the care Stanford lavished on Leland Jr. and the trotters, his partners among the Associates despaired of getting him to fulfill even his official duties, never mind add any value to their common enterprise. By that time he had plenty of cash secured, and the Stanfords invested it in land and luxuries. The ranch became the Palo Alto Stock Farm, a place where Stanford could see to the rearing and training of his horses (as well as his son). He poured money into the farm, hiring dozens of workers to equip the stables, including his elite chief trainer, Charles Marvin. The project grew massive, and he kept acquiring land to expand his now beloved Palo Alto tract. By the end of the 1880s, the stock farm boasted nearly 800 horses and a staff of 150 spread over 11,000 acres, the largest and finest institution of its kind in the world. Shipping horses back and forth to the West Coast from the farms of Kentucky and the markets of New York might have been a prohibitive expense for most, but not for Stanford the railroad man. He had a custom railcar built for his fine equine cargo.


Leland Stanford was not content to own horses, nor was he content to own the fastest horses in all the land. He saw himself as engaged in a serious scientific campaign regarding the improved performance of the laboring animal—hippology, or equine engineering. For Stanford the capitalist, the horses were productive biological machines, and in races he could analyze their output according to simple, univocal metrics. The trotters he raised raced with carriages behind them, restrained below a gallop to simulate a horse at work, not play. Within these restrictions, faster horses were better horses, and if he could master the production of better horses, then he could improve the country’s capital stock. Stanford figured that if through the application of scientific methods he could build a program that would raise the value of the average horse by $100, that would be worth $1.3 billion to a country with 13 million horses (over $30 billion in 2022 money).5 Stronger, more durable horses led faster carriages and bigger plows for longer, which reduced the costs of production and increased social circulation in unimaginable ways. Horses were the dominant mode of local transportation (especially during the still-dreaded “last mile” stage of delivery). They were the military’s most important weapon and the chief source of agricultural power. The country was deeply dependent on them, as demonstrated when a wave of equine influenza in the winter of 1872–73 infected roughly 100 percent of its horses, killing more than 1 percent and temporarily debilitating the rest. The Great Epizootic ground eastern cities to a halt, stopping the horse-powered Delaware, Hudson, and Erie Canals in addition to virtually all local transport.6 New York City streetcar operators had to drag the cars themselves, and much of Boston burned down when sick horses were left too tired to pull fire engines.7


Though the inventions that replaced draft animals were soon to arrive, the tractor didn’t get there in time to lead the agricultural development of the West. The number of farm-based horses in the United States tripled to over 25 million in the following decades, before falling even faster in the 1920s, ’30s, and ’40s.8 In 1910, the peak of the pre-tractor era, horses and mules constituted two-thirds of farm implements and machinery by value—$2.6 billion of the $3.9 billion in national “crop-growing capital.”9 Never mind what the animals cost in daily upkeep. Around the turn of the century, finding ways to reduce horse costs was a pressing question for business, particularly in California, a rising agricultural power. The state’s growers used larger and more advanced machinery to get better yields than the rest of the country, and perhaps counterintuitively, late nineteenth-century mechanization meant high horse intensity. Horses were the engines of the West, and by 1870, recall, the state’s farms already had three times as many draft animals per farm as the national average.10 Ultimately that’s what the Palo Alto Stock Farm was all about.


More valuable than any single horse, any thousand horses, were the insights into natural efficiency the farm developed. The “13 million horses × $100” calculation is the kind of disruption math that twenty-first-century start-ups use to persuade venture capitalists to sink millions into protean projects, but Leland only had to convince himself it was worth his money, which he seems to have had no problem doing. Bringing industrial techniques, goals, and capital to the production of animals, Stanford’s farm was the prototype for what the scholar Phillip Thurtle calls the laboratories of speed, with their limitless resources, firm-style employment bureaucracies, (pseudo)scientific breeding methods, and focus on a single product.11 This was not an animal farm in any classic sense; it was an experimental engine factory, churning out high-performance horse flesh by the ton. Since they sold horses for their genetics—the blood more valuable than the muscle—the Palo Alto Stock Farm was really in the business of intellectual property.


Horse breeders were at the vanguard of genetics, tracing lineages back over many generations and pricing studs for their genetic material. Winning a race was nice, but the real prize went to the horse who could produce winners by the cupful. The industry was well-convinced about the significant role of hereditary traits in the development of racing champions, but this (correct) fundamental understanding wasn’t necessarily incompatible with (incorrect) community folk knowledge. As the paragon of a new ruling class that prided itself on overturning ossified assumptions, Leland Stanford was sure that despite being a newcomer to the sport, he knew more than the rest of the breeders and trainers did. He was a man of science, with no undue regard for the way things had been done in the past, and he had the money to go at it however he wanted. Stanford bought the untested stallion Electioneer (against professional advice, the story goes) as part of his first batch of breeders; the horse became the greatest of all time, “the sire . . . of more young record-breakers than any horse in the world.”12


The prevailing wisdom was that the best trotters were pure-blooded, the product of a trotting stallion and a trotting mare. Crossbreeding with the galloping Thoroughbreds was thought to produce willful colts that were unable to maintain a trot. Stanford was unconvinced, and Electioneer bred promiscuously.13 Old hands had to eat their words when the Palo Alto Stock Farm produced both pure and mixed champions, though they tended to credit the extraordinary “brain-controlling power” in Electioneer’s genes rather than any breakthrough in the science. Soon, Stanford’s colts were selling for extraordinary prices, setting a record in 1892 when he sold the two-year-old champion Arion to breeder J. Malcolm Forbes for $125,000—over $2 million in 2022 money. Stanford and his money changed the industry, and the brand-new Palo Alto Stock Farm quickly became the world headquarters for hippology, equine engineering, or whatever the newspapers wanted to call what it was he was doing.


By applying capitalist rationality to trotter production, Stanford’s Palo Alto horse factory transformed more than just breeding practices. Before Stanford entered the field, trotters were the domain of small-market investors and horse-men guided by instinct. One reason is that true aristocrats considered the sport déclassé, but another was the life cycle of a performance trotter. Training began in earnest around the third year, and horses didn’t mature until age seven or eight, which meant owners had to feed and shelter them that whole time, even if they and their offspring turned out to be mediocre racers. And since the real money was in breeders, a trotter only acquired substantial value when its spawn (its “get”) turned out to be fast, too, forcing a lot of patience from investors. It wasn’t a great business unless you liked horses for their own sake. This would not do for Leland, and he and Charles Marvin went about changing the way horses were raised, trained, and sold. By summer of 1889, Palo Alto’s trotters set new world records for yearlings, two-year-olds, three-year-olds, and four-year-olds, a staggering triumph that the sport’s leading thinkers were forced to acknowledge. Electioneer’s surprisingly strong blood helped, they all agreed, but a good initial stud wasn’t enough to succeed the way Palo Alto had. How did they do it?


Capital’s exigencies dictated that Palo Alto shorten the horse production cycle. That meant training the animals to trot younger rather than letting colts learn to walk before they run. Instead of optimizing for adult speed, they optimized for visible potential. Drawing inspiration from the young children’s education movement, which had recently spread from Germany to the United States, Stanford built a shrunken “kindergarten” track where colts as young as five months learned to maintain a strong trot.* Its small size allowed two trainers with long whips to stand near the oval’s foci and control the whole track, guiding their charges toward excellence by snap. At this point the competitive selection process begins, and a youngster with a lot of promise gets “all the work he can safely stand,” a dedication of significant expense. Based on the Palo Alto Stock Farm understanding that potential reveals future performance, resources were apportioned for horse development according to colt speed. Stanford opposed jogging, preferring to build the animals’ maximum sprint and worry about distance later. “We aim to first develop the speed, and after that to condition the horse to carry it,” wrote Marvin in his guide to the method.14 By deriving (or generating) information about his colts’ characters early, Stanford flipped the whole industry’s incentive structure. “The business of breeding has now reached a point where few feel able to wait six or seven years for the get of their stallion to bring prestige to the farm,” wrote racing expert Leslie Macleod about Stanford’s impact in his review of the Palo Alto equine factory, “and hence he buys the blood that trots young.” The blood that trots young is exactly what Stanford’s farm was designed to showcase, and by revealing and embracing those market incentives he forced others to follow his lead.


There were consequences. “When you get several yearlings to trot quarters in 0:40, and two-year-olds to show you a 2:20 gait, you must not be surprised if some tendon snaps,” conceded Macleod. “Some good material has without a doubt been spoiled.”15 No reward without risk, but in Palo Alto they interpreted these failures as inevitable. In their genetic-determinist view, training could only reveal and realize the underlying immutable potential—a view that was good for sales, because genes are much easier to reproduce off-site than the capital-intensive training is. Based on this flawed premise, they figured that if you’re going to fail, you might as well do that fast, too. “If he goes wrong at two years old he will be a cheaper failure than if he goes wrong at ten years old,” wrote Marvin. “If a stallion has not the power to make a great sire, and his get have not the capacity and quality to make good performers, the quicker the owner and trainer find it out the better.”16 Better to snap a yearling’s tendon than feed him to age five just to see it snap then. If performance was destiny, then there could be no accidents in colt training, just early information, and early information was money saved.


The stock farm’s regimen of capitalist rationality and the exclusive focus on potential and speculative value was called the Palo Alto System and it worked. Horse-driven chariots were a literally ancient technology, studied for millennia, and the Palo Alto System transformed their production in just a decade. All a man needed to improve the world was an uncompromising dedication to profit and the capital to realize the necessary scale. Stanford had both, and he created Palo Alto to house them. The twin whips of science—data and control—sped money around its circuit like colts around the kindergarten track, accumulating valuable mass with every lap.


Unsupported Transit


Perhaps if horses still dragged the country’s artillery, plows, and delivery vans, we would remember the Palo Alto Stock Farm for the animals. But Leland Stanford’s semiconscious drive for the age of invention’s constellation of intangibles (information, control, speed, efficiency, value, and profit) yielded something better than horses: pictures of horses. The Governor’s farm was a scientific project from the outset, part of a larger atmosphere in which ambitious thinkers began applying the tools of systematic observation to the world’s mysteries, and one of those mysteries concerned horses and their gait. Unsupported transit was the name of the controversial theory that horses lifted all four of their legs off the ground at the same time, flinging themselves through the air. Scholar Étienne-Jules Marey explored the question at the Collège de France with the use of what was in effect a mini seismograph—an apparatus that automatically recorded footfalls with scratches on pieces of paper. The evidence was clear: Horses fly. The experiment captured Stanford’s imagination, and he wondered if the mythical unsupported transit could be frozen by camera, arrested in place for analysis. The Governor could certainly afford to find out. And if it could be done, there was one man in Alta California to make it happen.


Edward Muybridge was going by the nom de bouton Helios, his brand logo a camera with wings, and quite a brand it was. A notoriously irascible man—later attributed in part to a traumatic brain injury from an 1860 carriage accident—Muybridge preferred to work alone, which was difficult to do as a nineteenth-century photographer since portraiture, with its emphasis on customer service, was the bulk of the business. Still, there was plenty worth seeing in the West besides wannabe genteel white people, and Muybridge decided he was the man to capture the rest. With no small effort he converted a covered wagon into a mobile darkroom and set off from San Francisco. In 1867 he went to Yosemite Valley just as the majestic site was beginning to acquire a reputation for its scenery and natural features. He was contracted to take photos for a guidebook to the valley, and he brought a large-format camera for the book pictures as well as a stereoscope to get some of the faux-3D images popular with consumers to sell on the side. He settled his gaze on Yosemite’s sublime vistas and brought them home in slices for sale. The book was a hit. Unlike commission-dependent portraitists, Muybridge was an entertainer, and he enjoyed being both artist and subject. A later Yosemite self-portrait shows him dangling his legs from a sheer rock cliff, thousands of feet off the ground, like a social media influencer.


The Governor first hired Helios in 1872 to document his Sacramento mansion and many fine possessions, applying new technology to the classic form. Though by then Muybridge had a policy against taking boring photos inside people’s houses, other people didn’t have houses like Stanford’s, and Stanford was a good friend to make in California, so Helios made an exception. The photos show the ornate home mostly empty, and only a few of the plates contain images of the residents. Muybridge makes it look elegant and cavernous, the kind of pictures you might take to advertise a wedding venue for rent. He also took photos of Leland’s two-horse carriage at rest, headed in some by the trainer Charles Wooster and in others by family coachman James Vickers.17 These were the self-congratulatory collectibles of a wealthy man—nothing scientific about them, but already there were more photos of the horses than of Leland Jr. Later in the year, when the Governor thought to use his resources to improve on Marey’s unsupported-transit work, he reached out to Muybridge with the idea of capturing the champion trotting horse Occident in motion. Even Helios thought it was a stretch, but Stanford paid his bills without looking too hard at the numbers, and he was adamant.


They set up at the Sacramento race track near the first Stanford base of operations, before a move to continue the experiments at the new Bay District Track in San Francisco. A white sheet background provided maximum contrast in the California sun. Muybridge replicated human vision with a dual-lens system, informed by his experience with the stereoscope. To capture Occident midstride, he needed a very fast shutter, an apparatus that could blink faster than an eye to isolate an instant of time at a level below human perception. Ever the inventor, Helios used another new technology: the rubber band. French aviation engineer Alphonse Pénaud had recently begun using twisted rubber bands to power model propeller planes, which made for a cool kid’s toy in 1871. The Lelands Stanford were noted collectors of new mechanical toys, and it’s distinctly possible that that’s where Muybridge got the idea to use the exotic item.*18 Muybridge’s rubber-band shutter system caught the horse with enough detail to confirm Marey’s findings, but the picture apparently wasn’t worth saving, though a printmaker published a commercial lithograph based on the result, with all four of Occident’s legs in the air.19


The Governor hired Muybridge again in 1876 to shoot his new Palo Alto estate, apparently not begrudging Helios the murder and child abandonment that characterized the intermission in their working relationship.† These pictures are much like the Sacramento ones, but the technology had improved to better display the baroque opulence: marble columns, expansive rugs, intricate moldings that threaten to overwhelm the visual field. Now Stanford was ready to give the horse pictures another try, this time with increased resources. Muybridge figured that more shots improved the chances of a direct hit, so Stanford financed the purchase of a dozen cameras and lenses. He also enlisted the Central Pacific’s Oakland office to help design the trigger mechanism, and the railroad sent a young engineer named John Isaacs.


Technology had advanced rapidly since Stanford and Muybridge’s first attempt, and the team could now work with electric circuits. The CPR engineers built an electromagnetic trigger for a rubber-band shutter. As the carriage wheel passed over exposed wires, the horse took its own picture. Next they designed a machine that echoed the hand-crank mechanism of the Gatling gun, metal pins completing circuits to the dozen cameras, tracking the horse as the spiked cylinder rotated. They captured motion in pictures one camera at a time, all before Thomas Edison got to the lightbulb. Leland Jr. served as a riding subject and as he got older he took up photography himself, imitating the master in his backyard. Leland Sr. spent as much time as he could in Palo Alto near the horses and the photography, and he seems to have enjoyed a close, admiring relationship with his son, unusual for the time (and perhaps any time). Their collective project made history, and the Stanford-Muybridge horse photos remain iconic, coming to represent abstract phenomena such as technology and movement itself.


By the summer of 1878, Muybridge was ready to show off his photos to the press. He was a sort of expert at showing off, and he performed his motion photography like a stage magician for the crowd, taking the photographs, disappearing into his trackside darkroom, and emerging with the horse frozen in instants, shrunken onto small glass rectangles.20 The reporters went nuts, tripping over one another to tell the world about the accomplishment before someone else did. Muybridge used a flame-powered slide projector to show the photos to San Francisco’s fashionable audiences, no doubt gratifying his patron as well. Scientific American published engravings of the Palo Alto photos in October of 1878, and La Nature republished some to a Paris readership in December. All of a sudden Muybridge was more than an artist, a showman, and an infamous murderer: He was an internationally renowned scientist. Stanford signed off on another dozen cameras, and Muybridge extended his ambitions, collecting more four-legged animals and a troupe of athletes down from the city to perform feats of strength for the lenses, the cameras capturing their every muscled curve.


When audiences saw Muybridge’s motion studies, the sophisticated among them quickly realized the implications. For 50 years inventors and entertainers used the retina’s afterimage effect to generate the illusion of motion. A series of minimally different drawings interspersed with the black of a shutter and spun around a center axis yielded cartoon couples who danced or animals that jumped around. The most popular format was the zoetrope, which mounted images vertically around the inside of a small spinning drum with viewing slits in the sides, allowing a crowd to gather around a table and watch. When Scientific American published the Palo Alto engravings, they suggested that readers cut them out and paste them into their home displays to watch the horse in action.


Muybridge had a better idea, and in 1879 he started experimenting with his own scope—a zoetrope combined with a slide projector, an apparatus that could entertain whole rooms at a time. He taped his horse shards in order around the edge of a glass disk and spun it in front of the gas-jet flame. The images blurred until he added a black shutter wheel with light slits, something that Pénaud hinted early in the decade might be necessary for rapid photography. All put together, Muybridge had the first movie projector. He gave it the ungainly name zoopraxiscope, making him the world’s only zoopraxographer. In January of 1880, he gave the first of his many zoopraxographic performances, at the Stanford mansion in San Francisco for Leland and a select group of friends. The age of movies began in California, not in Hollywood but in the Bay.


Up until this point, the two titanic egos—Helios and the Governor—had maintained a productive tension, one that was based on incompatible ideas about their relationship. To Muybridge, the two were partners, Stanford providing the capital and the impetus, the photographer bringing the expertise and the technical labor. To Stanford, though, Muybridge was an especially skilled employee, hired the way future Silicon Valley tycoons hired expert sailors to pilot their racing yachts. Stanford paid Muybridge’s (extensive) bills, but he never compensated the photographer directly. When the Governor finally cut him a check for a measly $2,000, it marked a break between the two, collapsing Muybridge’s hopes into disappointment.21 While Helios toured Europe, received as the scientist-artist-maestro he now believed himself to be, Stanford hired a writer to put together a book of the Muybridge photographs, but without any credit to the man himself—Stanford mentioned him once in the introduction as just another hired hand.


Audiences were surprised to find the inventor they believed responsible for the images mostly unfeatured in the book’s account, and some suggested he must be claiming undue credit, a swindler. Muybridge was outraged, and he used his touring revenue to fund Palo Alto’s first intellectual property lawsuit: Muybridge v. Stanford.22 The judge dismissed the case. Helios was broke, unemployed, and exiled from Bay Area high society. He resumed his motion experiments in Philadelphia at the University of Pennsylvania, where his photographic studies of naked women—sometimes crawling on the ground, sometimes kissing each other on the mouth—raised eyebrows.


Muybridge, framer of landscapes, has kept most historians focused on the tree of his photos rather than the forest of the Palo Alto Stock Farm. Society’s progressive lurches require proper names to inhabit as well as flesh-and-blood limbs, and Muybridge was an inveterate namer, giving himself Helios and zoopraxiscope, but also changing the spelling of his own name, leaving scholars unsure how to refer to the man even as they knew they had to. (I have opted for the simplest spelling.) Stanford enjoyed naming things, too, and he had plenty of opportunities as a pioneer politician/land baron. The namers get named because we have to explain where the names for things come from, and the namers often name things after themselves and one another. These promoters leave their fingerprints on the civilizational timeline, using the portraits of themselves they commission to illustrate our collective past. That was the relatively tame to-do Stanford and Muybridge began with: the self-aggrandizing images the rich always seem to generate. Novelty is the cousin of scarcity, and wealthy patrons are frequently the first to embrace new representational techniques. Who else is going to pay for experiments such as the motion studies? And yet both men quickly found themselves swept up by larger systematic currents, their tasks transformed into vast unbounded projects related to production and circulation, money and speed.


Unlike past generations of court painters, Muybridge could sell reproductions of his work to the general public, or at least a class that claimed to represent the general public. Stanford paid him in exposure and equipment, financing the photographer’s commercial image line. It was a unique opportunity for a self-branding expert like Helios, allowing him to tour on the horsepower of the special pictures, selling slices of the horse in motion the way he sold slices of the park, the unsupported equines representing the technovisual frontier the way a waterfall represents the natural frontier—a “substitute horizon” in the words of French philosopher Paul Virilio.23 Stanford’s investment in the multiple-camera apparatus allowed Muybridge to shoot the way no other photographer could, and he made the most out of it.


The zoopraxiscope was less a scientific step than a commercial one, bringing the entertainment of a moving zoetrope to the room-size audience of a “magic lantern” slide projector, inventing the movie for the movie theater. Rather than relying on a single unreliable patron, Muybridge could harvest his fees from a whole class of customers, one ticket or photo set at a time. Not lords or barons or even capitalists like Stanford, these consumers couldn’t afford to employ their own artists and technicians, but they could and did pay for their share of an evening projector show or a photo reproduction. Discontented with the conditions of home portraiture and the classic role of the court artist, with its high-intensity customer-service labor, Muybridge made images that entertained a more popular audience instead.


Stanford’s money came from the Combine and the Combine’s money came from bonds sold against the federal government’s land grants and the speculative promise of the conquered West. The Yosemite photos allowed everyone to see through Muybridge’s white eyes as they settled on majestic virgin territory. His photos of Central America pitched those far-off lands to investors, the seafaring gate to California turned into the southern tip of the U.S. commercial empire. Muybridge’s photo sets were homesteads on the technovisual frontier, affordable pieces for the destined people, advertisements for everything the state had to offer. Bits of Palo Alto circulated around the Western world, entering the bloodstream of the emerging global bourgeoisie.


Leland Stanford saw himself as Muybridge’s boss rather than partner, and not without cause. The horse-in-motion photos were one small part of the Palo Alto Stock Farm’s equine engineering project, and considering what went into the apparatus it’s fair to say the photographer was only one small part of the horse-in-motion photos. They were, after all, Stanford’s horses and cameras. Trotting horses were the established purview of competitive local elites, but Leland Sr. couldn’t keep his money from transforming the whole industry. The Governor wasn’t seasoned with generations of folk knowledge about horses; instead he had a whole world’s capital coursing through his veins. The 1870s saw European money—vacuumed up from colonies around the world with the help of California engineers—follow railroad speculators all the way to the West Coast. Value seemed to fling itself by the millions across long distances, across oceans, gathering in municipal centers and popping up wherever it could expect to find higher profits. Unsupported transit.


Capital began organizing at national and global levels in earnest. What was left of Congress in 1863 passed the National Bank Act, and that decade yielded lasting finance names such as Morgan and Goldman. In 1870, some of newly unified Germany’s bankers joined to form Deutsche Bank, which quickly opened international offices to cash in on higher returns abroad. The Rothschilds had had agents in Alta California since before U.S. conquest, but the London branch of the banking family formed a close new relationship with the state’s mining capitalists in the latter part of the decade.24 California allowed foreign banks to set up local branches, and in 1875 the Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation (HSBC) took the state up on the offer, followed by the Yokohama Specie Bank in 1899, along with a number of London-, Paris-, and Canada-based banks.25 Worldwide investment flows drove invention toward profitable ends, fueling major technological efficiencies and advances in all aspects of life, which in turn spurred new colonial interventions. The midcentury invention of vulcanized rubber and the resulting European demand pushed explorers up the Amazon basin to open the latex-filled veins of South America, and into the African Congo for analogous reasons. European finance capital completed the Suez Canal and headed on to Panama. Stocks and bonds could move mountains and wrangle electrons.


Leland Stanford was but a historical vector, albeit a robust, capacious one, and he puffed up like a balloon, coat buttons pulled taut with pressure. Anything in his orbit tended to bulge the same way, from his vineyard (the world’s biggest) to his wife’s jewels (among the world’s gaudiest).26 As a man, he was notably unexceptional; as an embodiment of historical forces, he couldn’t own horses without transforming them into the world’s fastest. The scientific principles of control, measurement, and deliberate change opened a road to modernity, and capital was the draft mule that pulled the whole world down that path, California first. Here is where the twentieth century’s fortunes were made, and so much of that demand flowed in one way or another through the body of Governor Leland Stanford. Like a financial King Midas, he turned everything he touched into an international speculative concern. Everything could be made more.


And his son, Leland Jr. What would be made of him?


The School of Sorrow


The second Leland was first among California’s organic Anglo-American gentry. He was born Leland DeWitt Stanford in Sacramento in 1868, the only child to Leland Sr. and Jane, who was nearing forty after two decades of childless marriage. At a time when American parents were not necessarily expected to know all their children’s names, the Stanfords treasured their son. Years before the Palo Alto System was established, they took a concerted interest in Leland DeWitt’s education and development. Growing up between the family mansions and the stock-farm lands, the boy played with servants and the children of servants. As a son of nearly peerless wealth, he was taught noblesse oblige. The suburban move sheltered the boy from the Workingmen, and one of the many privileges he inherited was an idealistic picture of his father, who appeared generous and grand to his son despite his consensus reputation among the public and indeed his own friends and acquaintances. In 1882, the teenage Leland insisted on dropping DeWitt from his name and adding Jr. as a tribute to his dear papa. He was shaped not so much in the Governor’s image but in his imago, his idealized self, the character he played in industry propaganda, the one his business partners chuckled at in private. Whereas Leland Sr. contracted out his childhood woodchopping at a profit, Leland Jr. laid Palo Alto railroad track to build his own character. Leland Stanford Jr. was the Leland Stanford that Leland Stanford Sr. liked to imagine himself to be.


In the final quarter of the nineteenth century, the Western middle and upper classes began to think of children as occupying their own developmental category. Previously split into the reasonless gremlin time of toddlerhood and the family-owned labor of adolescence, the notion of childhood expanded with the need for workers skilled in book learning. The number of children per family shrank as adolescents and teenagers shifted from asset to liability in the domestic ledger.27 The Stanfords were an extreme example, with their single child and outlying wealth. Leland Jr. grew up a spoiled child at the dawn of the age of spoiled children—Frances Hodgson Burnett’s serialized novel Little Lord Fauntleroy about a golden-hearted boy aristocrat was a transatlantic sensation in the mid-1880s, for example, inspiring the frilly-shirt-and-curls look. As a natural consequence of his wealth, Leland Sr. exposed his son to serious concerns at a young age. Recall that Leland Jr. participated in the Muybridge photos, and he rode his pony at the world-class stock farm. His toys were mechanical wonders, especially the functional and rideable quarter-scale train built by company engineers, which ran a quarter-mile loop between the house and the stables.28 His childhood playroom featured a telegraph and telephone. Now interest in giant machinery is considered typical in children, but Leland Jr., as the adored son of a railroad tycoon, had unparalleled opportunities. From the Sacramento railroad workshop to the New York Central Railroad station, from the mechanical exhibitions at the Agricultural Hall in London to the massive silk factories of Lyon: Leland Jr. held a backstage pass to it all. The world’s first commercial cable car went up the hill to his house. Intellectually precocious, he sketched designs for his own industrial inventions: smokestacks and train-car couplings.


The Stanfords kept their son unusually close as he got older. He frequently joined them for dinner with national and global dignitaries, and he even accompanied his parents on their trips abroad. It was normal for Western elites to send their young adult men on an acculturating cruise around the continent, but as scholar Karen Sánchez-Eppler notes, “The notion that such travel should be undertaken by an 11-year-old boy and his parents was a decidedly American adaptation, and in a sense really an invention of the new California millionaires.”29 It’s hard to imagine a child with more opportunity to see the world under conditions of luxury than Leland Stanford Jr., who rode the railroad across the country in his mother’s arms and accompanied his parents as far east as Constantinople as a teenager. From his travels he took souvenirs, and he added them to the Indian artifacts he dug up as a child in Palo Alto to create a repository of antiquities. Children, like certain birds, are wont to assemble small collections out of their treasured objects, but as with everything else in the Stanford family, the money ensured that Leland Jr. approached his collecting in a serious way. He was inspired by the great museums he visited with his parents: the Louvre, the Vatican, the Berlin Museum, the British Museum, the Metropolitan Museum. Not many young boys had access to items of museum quality, but Leland Jr. did, acquired from Paris shops, where he chatted with the antiquarians in fluent French, and from British archaeological sites in Greece. His inaugural European piece was a bit of mosaic purloined on a visit to Pompeii. He planned his own museum for the West Coast public in the grand continental style.


At his parents’ side, Leland Jr. was more than privileged. He toured the Ottoman sultan’s treasury, writing to a girlfriend back home about “diamonds literally by the bushel, and one emerald as large as your hand, bowls full of emeralds, rubies and pearls, and carpets of gold covered with precious stones as close as they could be laid on.”30 They sipped coffee on diamond-studded gold saucers with a side of preserved rose petals. In Venice, the Stanfords hired a boatload of singers to serenade their gondola through the canals for three nights in a row. In Vienna, they went to the opera and ballet and dined with Alphonso Taft, United States minister to Austria-Hungary and father of the future president. In Bordeaux, Leland Jr. inspected Baron Rothschild’s Château Lafite, which his father hoped to replicate in Northern California. He was blessed, and not merely in a figurative sense: Pope Leo XIII put his hands on the boy’s head during a private audience with him and Jane in Rome. Leland’s young life was a whirlwind of peak experiences, an itinerary so rich that even the description is hard to take. Only a boy, he was familiar with so many of the world’s most powerful men, prepared to take his place among them. In a way, considering that his parents always made room for him at the table, he already had.


On his second trip to Europe, he posed for a portrait by Léon-Joseph-Florentin Bonnat in Paris. A professor at the École des Beaux-Arts, Bonnat was among the world’s best-regarded painters, and his Leland Stanford Jr. is a paragon of young aristocratic masculinity. The boy stands in front of a tree on a seaside cliff in his three-piece suit, chest out, gold watch chain dipping across his vest, left thumb hooked into his jacket pocket, a hat dangling by the brim from his other four fingers. There’s some baby fat left on his cheeks, but his body is long and proportioned like a man’s, and he leans a cane on his right hip. He wears the same impassive poker face that drove his father’s business associates up a wall. Pride radiates from his shoulders. His tutor, Herbert Charles Nash, referred to a poem by Longfellow: “Some must follow, and some command, / Though all are made of clay.” Leland Jr., he recalled, was one who must command.31 The boy was the future embodied, a natural leader for the first generation of children in Anglo-ruled California, and he knew it. He was fifteen years old.


And then he was dead. Maybe it was the unusual cold in Athens—he had frolicked in the deep snow at the Parthenon—but somewhere between Greece and Italy Leland Jr. fell ill. His parents moved him to Florence for the climate on doctor’s orders, and he fell into a fevered delirium for weeks. On March 13, 1884, two months before his sixteenth birthday, the Stanfords’ only child died. Losing a child was not an unusual experience for nineteenth-century parents, but Jane and Leland didn’t have any to spare. They had all their eggs in the one beautiful basket, and without warning the handle snapped. “Our darling boy went to heaven this morning at half-past seven o’clock after three weeks’ sickness from typhoid fever,” they messaged home, and the condolences poured in immediately, from government officials, from royalty, from their friends, from strangers.32 The Stanfords were public figures, one way or another, and their tragedy was public, too. The English poet Elizabeth Ayton Godwin sent lines from her collection Songs for the Weary: “I sat in the school of sorrow, / The Master was teaching there, / But my eyes were dim with weeping / And my heart was full of care.”33 Leland Sr. completely broke down, according to Jane’s secretary, which must have been something to behold, the bulky bearded railroad titan reduced to a pile of grief. His son’s child-size train rusted in the Palo Alto yard.


The Stanfords were sophisticated modern thinkers of the late nineteenth century, which means they thought they could talk to ghosts. Jane found refuge in the Christian spiritualism that animated many of the letters and telegrams sent their way, and she prayed in an increasingly instrumental way, straining to contact her boy in the afterlife, the “better place” where she needed to know he was spending eternity. Bereaved, the couple made another trip around the globe. They consulted the world’s most acclaimed mediums, including Leland’s brother Thomas Welton Stanford, who moved from California to Melbourne, Australia, where he became a successful sewing machine distributor as well as a leading mystic, credited as the father of the Australian séance. It’s not clear whether the Stanfords reached their son in the hereafter—from the records it seems that she believed more than he did, and that her belief may have been overstated as well by backbiting contemporaries eager to portray her as emotionally overwhelmed—but when they arrived home their purpose was clear, and they set about founding Leland Stanford Junior University.


Leland Sr. and Jane were renewed by their mission, and they went east to visit the country’s great private colleges for inspiration. They tried to recruit Columbia president Nicholas Murray Butler to run the school, apparently after the presidents of MIT and Cornell turned them down. Stanford offered Butler a $20,000 salary, more than five times his Columbia pay and over half a million dollars in 2022 money, but he was refused. No respectable Ivy League academic was about to exile himself to California. The East Coast scholar-administrators thought no amount of money could sprout a world-class university in the intellectual wasteland of California. But Leland Stanford knew that the right amount of money could do anything.


“The children of California shall be our children,” Stanford announced on behalf of the couple. “It is our hope to found a university where all may have a chance to secure an education such as we intended our son to have.” The boy’s name was now an invitation to the promising young settlers of the Golden State. It helped that the Stanfords already owned enough land to create the nation’s largest university campus, a designation the school maintains at the time of this writing. Palo Alto was a beautiful place to live, but it wasn’t San Francisco, where the state’s culture was concentrated. Leland, however, wasn’t looking to build a library for eggheads and philosophers. He wanted the school that bore his name to teach useful arts, among which he included cobblery, printing, carving, telegraphy, and stenography, “no less but rather more than the arts of music and painting and sculpture.”34 It was to be a school of laborers, and free tuition would allow the children of all classes to attend. How much this curriculum shared in common with Leland Jr.’s real-life educational experience of hanging out with the most powerful people in the world is up for debate, but the boy did do some wood carving.


Jane was more interested in realizing her son’s plans for a great artifact collection. She planned and built the world’s largest privately held museum, based on the sketches Leland Jr. made before his death. Among the relics was a set of pottery that had been unearthed in Cyprus and acquired by the Met; when curators realized they had duplicates they sold them to Governor Stanford, who gave them to his son. The museum held items of contemporary importance as well, such as a collection of objects from the 1871 Paris Commune, including rifle balls and bits of bread—Leland Jr. had turned three while the City of Light was under worker occupation. In one room was the boy’s original group of collectibles, “exactly as he left them in 1882.”35 The grieving mother’s plan was to leave it that way forever, the most magnificent shrine to a son’s death in almost 2,000 years.


To design the campus, the Stanfords brought Frederick Law Olmsted back to Northern California. The godfather of U.S. landscape architecture, Olmsted’s Central and Prospect Parks in New York are among the country’s most iconic green spaces, and he drew up UC Berkeley’s original master plan, too. Though his plan for Golden Gate Park was too progressive—San Francisco’s oligarchs preferred something in the northern European rather than the Mediterranean mode Olmsted felt was more appropriate—he was the natural choice for the Stanfords, who liked his Mission revival concept.36 They laid the campus cornerstone in 1887, but between trouble attracting faculty and Jane’s outsize memorial-construction ambitions, the school’s first class of students didn’t arrive until the fall of 1891. Leland Sr. spent much of the interim period in Washington, DC, having had himself selected to the U.S. Senate by the state legislature in 1884, undermining the Combine’s plan and further alienating his associates. Still, in the name of the son, the massive project advanced.
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